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Profile
Cho Wai Loon was first appointed to the Board of the Company on 22
August 2005. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (“ACCA”) and Malaysian Institute of Taxation as well as a member
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He has more than 20 years of
experience in the field of management consulting, accounting and taxation.
He started out his accountancy career as a trainee in 1982. From 1982 to
1994, he was attached to several public accounting firms gaining multiple
experiences. He currently operates his own practice providing management
consultancy, secretarial and accounting services.
He sits as a Chairman of the Audit Committee and as a member of the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Option Committee.
He does not hold any directorships on the Board of other public listed
companies in Malaysia.
He has no family relationship with any other directors or major shareholders
of the Company. There is no conflict of interest with the Company. Within the
last 10 years, he has not been convicted for any offences, other than traffic
offences, if any. Please refer to page 85 of this Annual Report for his securities
holding.

Cho Wai Loon

47 years of age, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director

Tan Boon Leng was first appointed to the Board of the Company on 15 April
2009. He is currently an Executive Director of Century Bond Bhd (“Century
Bond”) and he has over 25 years of business experience and contributed to
the growth and expansion of the business of Century Bond and its subsidiaries
especially in the areas of sales and marketing of the Century Bond Group’s
products.
He also sits as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee and as a member of the Audit Committee.
He has no family relationship with any other directors or major shareholders
of the Company. There is no conflict of interest with the Company. Within the
last 10 years, he has not been convicted for any offences, other than traffic
offences, if any. Please refer to page 85 of this Annual Report for his securities
holding.

Tan Boon Leng

46 years of age, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director
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Event Highlights

a

b

d

c

e

f
a

MAY
N2N Family
Treasure Hunt
@ Pavilion

b

JUNE
N2N Connect
Annual General
Meeting

c

d

JUNE
The winner of
SME Innovation
Award 2011 in
ICT & Electrical
& Electronics
category

JUNE
N2N participated
at SME Innovation
Showcase 2011 at
the Kuala Lumpur
Convention Centre

N2N Connect Berhad

e

JULY
A visit to
Pertubuhan Kebajikan
Kanak-kanak Yatim
dan Miskin Wawasan
Port Dickson,
Negeri Sembilan

Annual Report 2011

f

JULY
N2N Amazing
Treasure Hunt to
Port Dickson&
Telematch

g

AUGUST
N2N Connect
Extraordinary
General Meeting
in relation to
the proposed
acquisition of
office building in
Bangsar South.
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g

h

i

j

k

l

m

n

AUGUST
Blood
Donation
Campaign,
A Community
Project by
N2N Connect

i

j

SEPTEMBER
N2N participated as an
Education Partner at
Shares Investment
Conference 2011
at Raffles City
Convention Centre,
Singapore

NOVEMBER
TCPro Advanve
Trading Workshop
organised by
N2N Connect
Singapore

N2N Connect Berhad

k

NOVEMBER
PIKOM 25th
Anniversary
Gala Dinner &
ICT Leadership
Awards @
Istana Hotel

l

DECEMBER
N2N
Thanksgiving
Annual Dinner at
7atenite, Ascott
Kuala Lumpur

Annual Report 2011

m

JANUARY 2012
N2N BootCamp
& HOD Retreat
at Resort World,
Singapore

n

JANUARY 2012
Completion of
acquisition of new
office building at
Bangsar South,
known as Wisma
N2N
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THE CODE
The Board of N2N Connect Berhad (“Company”) is committed to ensuring that the highest standards of corporate governance
are practiced as a fundamental guide in discharging its principal duty to act in the best interests of the Company as well as
managing the businesses and affairs of the Group efficiently. The Board will also ensure the Malaysian Code on Corporate
Governance (the “Code”) is strictly adhered to.
The Board is pleased to share the manner in which the Group has applied the principles of good corporate governance and
best practices during the financial year ended 31 December 2011. The Board believes that the Principles of the Code and
Best Practices outlined in the Code have, in all material respects, been adhered to and complied with.
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Group is led and controlled by an effective Board consisting of professionals and competent individuals of caliber
with diverse backgrounds, expertise and experience in various fields such as business, technical, marketing and finance
considered suitable for managing the Group’s businesses. The appointment of Independent Non-Executive Directors
who are not members of the management will ensure that they are free of any relationship which could interfere with the
exercise of independent judgement or ability to act in the best interests of the Group ensuring that any decision of the
Board is deliberated fully and objectively with regard to the long term interest of all stakeholders. The Executive Directors
are responsible for implementing the corporate strategies and management of day-to-day operations of the business.
Within the powers accorded by the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”), the Board is charged with among others,
the development of corporate objectives and the review and approval of corporate plans, acquisitions and disposal of
undertakings and properties of substantial value, major investments and financial decisions and changes to the management
and control structure within the Group including key risk management, treasury, financial and operational policies and
delegated authority limits.
(i)

Composition
The Board currently consists of six (6) Directors, three (3) of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors.
The Board composition is in compliance with the ACE Market Listing Requirement (“ACE LR”) where at least
one-third of the Board comprises of Independent Directors.

(ii)

Board Meetings
During the financial year ended 31 December 2011, seven (7) Board Meetings were held and all Board members
attended more than 75% of the Board Meetings. The Directors’ attendance records at the Board Meetings for
the last financial year are as follows:
Directors
		
Izlan bin Izhab
Tiang Boon Hwa
Lai Su Ping
Chua Tiong Hoong
Cho Wai Loon
Tan Boon Leng

No. of Board Meetings attended
7/7
7/7
7/7
7/7
7/7
6/7

N2N Connect Berhad
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(iii)

Directors’ Training and Continuing Education Program
The Board is constantly encouraged to attend programmes and seminars to keep abreast with the latest
development in the industry and market place.
All members of the Board have attended the Mandatory Accreditation Programme prescribed by Bursa
Securities. Apart from attending various conferences and seminars organized by external organizers, the Board
also benefited from technical briefings which were conducted by in-house professionals. During the year, the
Directors attended the N2N Core Technical Analysis Intensive Workshop by Master Li Xin Jing, Strategic Risk
Management Workshop, Seminars on Creating & Maintaining Boardroom Excellence, Related Party Transactions
and Investor Relations & Financial Communications and other relevant seminars and trainings in order to meet
the requirement of continuous professional development.
The Board will continue to identify other training programs that can further enhance their knowledge in the
latest development relevant to the Group, especially in the area of corporate governance and regulatory
development, to enable them to discharge their responsibilities effectively.

(iv)

Re-Election of Directors
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Board, including Managing
Director, shall retire and is subject to re-election and each Director shall stand for re-election at least once every
three (3) years.

(v)

Appointments to the Board
The Nomination Committee recommends the appointment of new Directors to the Board.

(vi)

Board Effectiveness Assessment
The Company Secretary facilitates the yearly effectiveness assessment of the Board of Directors, Committees
and individual Directors. The objective is to improve the Board’s effectiveness by identifying gaps, maximize
strengths and address weaknesses. The Chairman of the Board oversees the overall evaluation process and
responses are analysed by the Nomination Committee, before being discussed at the Board.

SUPPLY OF INFORMATION
The Directors will be provided with all relevant information in sufficient time, prior to the date of scheduled Board Meetings.
This is to enable the Board members to obtain further explanation or clarification to facilitate the decision making process
and meaningful discharge of their duties.
The Directors will be able to seek professional advice as and when necessary and the Board will formalise the procedures
for Directors to take independent advice, in the furtherance of their duties.
All Directors will have direct access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who ensures that all appointment are
properly made and that all necessary information is obtained from the Directors, both for the Company’s own records or for
the purposes of meeting statutory obligations, as well as obligations arising from the ACE LR or other regulatory requirements.

N2N Connect Berhad

N2N AR2011 (man).indd 15

Annual Report 2011

5/21/12 7:23 PM

Corporate Section

16

Corporate

Governance Statement

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the following committees:
(i)

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee ensures that the Directors of the Board bring characteristics to the Board, which
provides a required mix of responsibilities, skills and experience. The Nomination Committee will also assist
the Board in reviewing on an annual basis the appropriate balance and size of Non-Executive participation and
in establishing procedures and processes towards an annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a
whole, the Committees of the Board and contribution of each individual Director.
This Committee is chaired by Tan Boon Leng and the members are Izlan bin Izhab and Cho Wai Loon.
The Nomination Committee meets as and when necessary and may decide by way of circular resolutions. The
Nomination Committee held one (1) meeting during the financial year ended 31 December 2011 with full
attendance.

(ii)

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee acts as a committee of the full Board to assist in assessing the remuneration of
the Directors reflecting the responsibility and commitment undertaken by the Board membership.
This Committee is chaired by Tan Boon Leng and the other members include Izlan bin Izhab, Cho Wai Loon and
Tiang Boon Hwa.
The Remuneration Committee meets as and when necessary and may decide by way of circular resolutions.
The Remuneration Committee held one (1) meeting during the financial year ended 31 December 2011 with
full attendance.

(iii)

Option Committee
The Company obtained approvals from the shareholders at a general meeting on 13 October 2005 and 18
October 2005 to establish the Employees Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”). An Option Committee was set up
to administer the ESOS in accordance with the By-Laws. Pursuant to the Board’s approval on 24 August 2010,
the tenure of the ESOS has been extended for a further 5 years, expiring on 22 December 2015.
This Committee is chaired by Izlan bin Izhab and the other members include Cho Wai Loon and Tiang Boon
Hwa.
The Option Committee meets as and when necessary and may decide by way of circular resolutions. The Option
Committee held one (1) meeting during the financial year ended 31 December 2011 with full attendance.

(iv)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Cho Wai Loon and the other members include Izlan bin Izhab and Tan Boon
Leng. Fuller details of the composition of the Committee are found in the Audit Committee Report.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of the remuneration of Directors for the financial year are as follows:
(i)

Aggregate remuneration of Directors categorized into appropriate components:

				
Executive

				RM

		
Fees					99,360
Salaries and bonuses				
847,279
Other benefits				
5,064
Total					
951,703
(ii)

Non-Executive
RM
60,000
–

–
60,000

Number of Directors whose remuneration falls into the following bands:

No of Directors
Remuneration Band
Executive
Non-Executive
		
RM1,001 – RM50,000
RM50,001 – RM100,000
RM100,001 – RM150,000
RM150,001 – RM200,000
RM200,001 – RM250,000
RM250,001 – RM300,000
RM300,001 – RM350,000
RM350,001 – RM400,000
RM400,001 – RM450,000
RM450,001 – RM500,000
RM500,001 – RM550,000
RM550,001 – RM600,000
RM600,001 – RM650,000

–
1
–
–
1
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

3
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1

–

Total number of directors

3

3

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND INVESTORS RELATIONS POLICY
Dialogue between the Company and Investors
The Company recognizes the importance of being accountable to its shareholders and investors through maintenance of
an open communication policy with investors and shareholders alike. In ensuring effective communication, the Company
communicates with its shareholders and investors through various means and forums such as the annual report, company
visits, site visits, annual general meetings, exhibition and other Group activities.
Any information that may be regarded as undisclosed material information about the Group will not be given to any single
shareholder or shareholder group. To ensure that shareholders and investors are well informed of major developments of
the Group, information is disseminated to shareholders and investors through various disclosures and announcements to
Bursa Securities which include quarterly financial results and press release from media.
At each Annual General Meeting, Executive Directors and, where appropriate, the Chairman are available to respond to
shareholders’ questions during the meeting.
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N2N AR2011 (man).indd 17

Annual Report 2011

5/21/12 7:23 PM

Corporate Section

18

Corporate

Governance Statement

Annual General Meeting
Notice of the Annual General Meeting and Annual Reports are sent out to shareholders at least 21 days before the date of
the meeting.
Besides the normal agenda for Annual General Meeting, the Board also provides opportunities for shareholders to raise
questions pertaining to the business activities of the Group. All Directors are available to provide responses to shareholders’
questions during these meetings.
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting
The Board takes responsibility for presenting a balanced and meaningful assessment of the Group’s operations and prospects
each time it releases its quarterly and annual financial results. The Board is assisted by the Audit Committee to oversee
the Group’s financial reporting processes and the quality of its financial reporting. The Statement by Directors pursuant to
Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965 is set out on page 32 of this Annual Report.
Directors’ Responsibility in Financial Reporting
In preparing the financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Directors have:
•

Adopted suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

Made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

Ensured compliance with applicable accounting standards;

•

Prepared financial statements on the going concern basis unless otherwise stated; and

•

Ensured proper maintenance of accounting records, disclosing reasonable accuracy in the financial position
of the Group.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps to safeguard
the assets of the Group and to detect and prevent fraud and other irregularities.
Internal Control
The Board of Directors is aware of its responsibility to maintain a sound system of internal controls to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets. It will be an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risk
faced by the Group in the future and this will be regularly reviewed by the Board up to the date of approval of the Annual
Report. The main elements of this system are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Board and Audit Committee have appointed IBDC (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd,
the outsourced professional firm for the establishment of an independent internal audit function which is in compliance
with the ACE LR. The Board and the Audit Committee also work closely with external auditors on the functions of internal
controls from time to time, to ensure the smooth running of the Company’s operations.
Relationship with the Auditors
The Board is aware that it should, through the Audit Committee, maintain a transparent and formal relationship with the
external auditors, in the review of the external auditors’ plan, report and procedures and the assistance given by the Group’s
employees to the external auditors. The Board is also aware that the Audit Committee will review any letter of resignation
from the external auditors, the suitability of the external auditors for re-appointment and recommends the nomination of
other person or persons as external auditors.
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Statement on
Internal Control

Introduction
The Board, as guided by the “Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies” is pleased to
provide the following Statement on Internal Control which outlines the nature and scope of internal controls of the Group
during the financial year.
The Board’s Responsibilities
The Board acknowledges their responsibility to maintain a system of internal control and for reviewing its adequacy and
integrity. The system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s corporate
objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against any material misstatement or loss.
The Risk Management Process
Apart from financial controls, the Group’s system of internal controls also cover operational and compliance controls and,
most importantly, risk management. As part of the risk management process, the Board assisted by the Audit Committee, is
continuously identifying, assessing and managing significant business risks faced by the Group throughout the financial year.
The process will be regularly reviewed by the Board through the Audit Committee and is in accordance with the Guidance
as contained in the “Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies”.
The Internal Control Process
The other key features of the Group’s internal control system include the following:
•

An organization structure with defined lines of responsibility and appropriate reporting structure including
proper approval and authorization limit for approving capital expenditure and expenses within the Group;

•

An Internal Audit function which performs regular and systematic review of the internal controls to assess and
provide sufficient assurance on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and to highlight significant
risks impacting the Group with recommendation for improvement; and

•

The Audit Committee will regularly review reports by the Internal Audit function and conducts annual assessment
on the adequacy of the function’s scope of work and resources.

The Group continues to take measures to enhance and strengthen the internal control environment.
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The Board of Directors of N2N Connect Berhad is pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for the year ended
31 December 2011.
The Audit Committee was established by a resolution of the Board on 13 October 2005.
Members and Meetings
The Members of the Audit Committee comprising the following directors.
						
				
		
Attendance at the Committee
		
Meetings held during the
Composition of the Audit Committee
Financial Year ended 31 December 2011
Chairman

Cho Wai Loon
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
		
Member
Izlan Bin Izhab
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
		
Member
Tan Boon Leng
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

5/5
5/5
5/5

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
COMPOSITION
(1)

The company must appoint an audit committee from amongst its directors which fulfils the following
requirements:(a)

the Committee must be composed of no fewer than 3 members;

(b)

all the Committee members must be non-executive directors, with majority of them being independent;

(c)

at least one member of the Committee:(i)

must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or

(ii)

if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least 3 years
working experience and:-

(iii)

•

he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the 1st Schedule of the Accountants
Act 1967; or

•

he must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified in Part II of the 1st
Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967.
fulfills such other requirements as prescribed or approved by the Exchange.

(2)

No alternate Director shall be appointed as a member of the Committee.

(3)

The members of the Committee shall elect a Chairman from among their member who shall be an independent
director.

(4)

In the event of any vacancy in the Committee resulting in the non-compliance of subparagraph 15.09(1) of
the ACE LR, the Board of Directors shall, within three (3) months of that event, appoint such number of new
members as may be required to make up the minimum number of three (3) members.
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QUORUM
The quorum of the Committee shall be two (2) of whom the majority of members present shall be independent Directors.
ATTENDANCE AND MEETINGS
The Committee may invite any member of the management, employees, other Directors and representatives of the internal
and external auditors to be present at meetings of the Committee.
The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times a year and such additional meetings as the Chairman shall decide in order
to fulfill its duties. In addition, the Chairman may call a meeting of the Committee if a request is made by any Committee
member, the Company’s Managing Director, or the internal or external auditors.
FUNCTIONS
The Committee shall, amongst others, discharge the following functions:(1)

(2)

review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors :
(a)

with the external auditor, the audit plan;

(b)

with the external auditor, his evaluation of the system of internal controls;

(c)

with the external auditor, his audit report;

(d)

the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external auditor;

(e)

the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit functions and that
it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

(f )

the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or
investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of
the internal audit function;

(g)

the quarterly results and year end financial statements, prior to the approval by the Board of Directors,
focusing particularly on :(i)

changes in or implementation of major accounting policy changes;

(ii)

significant and unusual events; and

(iii)

compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;

(h)

any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or
Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management
integrity;

(i)

any letter of resignation from the external auditors of the Company; and

(j)

whether there is reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the Company’s external auditor is not
suitable for re-appointment; and

recommend the nomination of a person or persons as external auditors.
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PROCEDURE
The Committee may regulate its own procedure, in particular:(a)

the calling of meetings;

(b)

the notice to be given of such meetings;

(c)

the voting and proceedings of such meetings;

(d)

the keeping of minutes; and

(e)

the custody, production and inspection of such minutes.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(1)

The Committee shall ensure that an Audit Committee Report be prepared at the end of each financial year that
complies with sub-Rules (2) and (3) below.

(2)

The Committee report must be clearly set out in the annual report of the Company.

(3)

The Committee report shall include the following:(a)

the composition of the Committee, including the name, designation (indicating the chairman) and
directorship of the members (indicating whether the directors are independent or otherwise);

(b)

the terms of reference of the Committee;

(c)

the number of Committee meetings held during the financial year and details of attendance of each
Committee member;

(d)

a summary of the activities of the Committee in the discharge of its functions and duties for that financial
year of the Company ; and

(e)

a summary of the activities of the internal audit function or activity.

RIGHTS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Committee shall, wherever necessary and reasonable for the performance of its duties in accordance with a procedure
to be determined by the Board of Directors and at the cost of the Company:(a)

have authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference;

(b)

have the resources which are required to perform its duties;

(c)

have full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Company;

(d)

have direct communication channels with the external auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit
function or activity;

(e)

be able to obtain independent professional or other advice; and

(f )

be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both, excluding the attendance
of other directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed necessary.
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REPORTING OF BREACHES TO BURSA SECURITIES
Where the Committee is of the view that a matter reported by it to the Board of Directors of the Company has not been
satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach of the ACE LR, the Committee shall promptly report such matter to Bursa Securities.
REVIEW OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board of Directors must review the term of office and performance of the Committee and each of its members at least
once every 3 years to determine whether the Committee and members have carried out their duties in accordance with
their terms of reference.
SECRETARY
The Secretary to the Committee shall be the company secretary.
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY OF THE COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee had undertaken the following activities during the financial year ended 31 December 2011:
(i)

reviewed the unaudited quarterly financial results for the quarters ended 31 December 2010, 31 March 2011,
30 June 2011, and 30 September 2011 for submission to the Board;

(ii)

reviewed the draft audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 and discussed
with the external auditors in relation to audit issues, audit reports, assistance provided by the management,
management letter;

(iii)

reviewed the related party transactions, if any, arising within the Company and/or the Group;

(iv)

reviewed the Statement on Allocation of Options Under the Employees Share Options Scheme (“ESOS”);

(v)

reviewed Chairman’s Statement, Statement on Corporate Governance, Statement on Internal Control, Statement
on Corporate Social Responsibility, and Audit Committee Report for inclusion in the Annual Report 2011;

(vi)

reviewed the draft Statement in relation to the Proposed Renewal of the Authority for Share Buy-Back;

(vii)

recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the external auditors for the financial year ended 31 December
2011 and their audit fees;

(viii) considered and approved the External Auditors’ Audit Planning Memorandum for the financial year ended 31
December 2011;
(ix)

reviewed the Internal Audit Strategy and Planning Memorandum for the financial year ended 31 December
2011; and

(x)

reviewed the Internal Audit Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Board and Audit Committee have appointed IBDC (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd,
the outsourced professional firm for the establishment of an independent internal audit function which is in compliance
with the ACE LR. The costs incurred for this internal audit function was RM15,000.
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY OF THE INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The internal audit function had reviewed the internal control systems of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2011, which covered the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Management & Financial Control
Revenue Control – Invoicing process
Expenditure Control – payment and expenses
Procurement
Credit Control and Collection
Insurance Coverage
Sales and Marketing
Research and Development
Property, Plant & Equipment Safeguards and Substantiation and Evaluation

ESOS
During the financial year, no allocation of share options was made by the Company pursuant to the ESOS and no share
options was offered to and exercised by non-executive directors under the ESOS.
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SHARE BUYBACK
During the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Company purchased a total of 1,774,900 ordinary shares of RM0.10
each of the issued share capital from the open market at an average price of RM0.244 per share. The total consideration for
the share buy-back was RM433,667 and was financed by internally generated funds. All the shares purchased during the
financial year ended 31 December 2011 had been retained as treasury shares, and the total number of shares retained as
treasury shares as at 31 December 2011 was 1,774,900 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each.
Information on the shares purchased by the Company during the financial year ended 31 December 2011
are as follows:

Monthly
Breakdown

No. of shares
purchased
and retained as
treasury shares

June 2011
July 2011
August 2011
September 2011
October 2011
November 2011
Total

1,183,000
200,000
100,000
95,000
122,100
74,800
1,774,900

Purchase Price
Per Share
(RM)

Average Cost
Per Share

Total
Consideration

Lowest

Highest

(RM)

(RM)

0.240
0.240
0.240
0.230
0.230
0.255

0.245
0.240
0.245
0.240
0.230
0.295

0.244
0.240
0.243
0.235
0.230
0.278
0.244

289,462
48,187
24,395
22,463
33,735
15,425
433,667

None of the treasury shares held were resold or cancelled during the financial year ended 31 December 2011.
OPTIONS, WARRANTS AND CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
There are no options, warrants or convertible securities issued by the Company during the financial year.
AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“ADR”) OR GLOBAL DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“GDR”)
During the financial year, the Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR programme.
SANCTIONS OR PENALTIES
There were no sanctions or penalties imposed on the Group, directors or management by the relevant regulatory bodies
during the financial year.
NON-AUDIT FEES
There was no non-audit fees paid to the external auditors by the Group during the financial year.
VARIATION IN RESULTS
There was no significant variation between the financial results in the Annual Audited Financial Statements 2011 and the
unaudited financial results for the year ended 31 December 2011 announced by the Company on 29 February 2012.
PROFIT ESTIMATES, FORECAST OR PROJECTION
The Company did not issue any profit estimates, forecast or projection for the financial year.
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PROFIT GUARANTEE
The Company did not issue any profit guarantee during the financial year.
MATERIAL CONTRACT INVOLVING DIRECTORS AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
There were no material contracts involving directors and substantial shareholders during the financial year except for a
Service Agreement dated 29 September 2004 entered into with Tiang Boon Hwa (“TBH”) for the appointment of TBH to
act as Managing Director or in such other capacity as the Company may designate at a salary of RM18,000 per month for
a term commencing 1 October 2004 and subject to termination by either party giving 6 months notice in writing (“Term”).
The Company shall have the discretion to terminate TBH’s employment lawfully (without notice or on notice less than
that required under the Term above), by paying to TBH a sum equal to RM2,000,000 in addition to his salary and value of
contractual benefits due to him in respect of that part of the period of the Term, which the Company has not given to TBH
or the unexpired part of such fixed term.
REVALUATION POLICY
The Company did not revalue any of its property, plant and equipment during the financial year.
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR”)
The Group understands the importance of its stakeholders, i.e. shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, and local
communities, in the successfulness of Company business. Pursuant to that, the Company will be constantly trying to balance
the return of each of its stakeholders group. Above and beyond a continuous effort to maximize the wealth of its ordinary
shareholders, the following actions have been conducted in Year 2011 to look to the needs of the broader stakeholder group
and to take on a wider social responsibility:
Type of stakeholder

Action

Employees

Constant review on staff benefit and allowance and disseminate the decision via
issuance of circulars, directives, rules & regulations or other instructions as a form
of communication from management to employees. All confirmed employees
are covered by Personal Accident Insurance, Group Hospitalisation Insurance and
other medical benefits.
Organisation of company trip, gatherings, sports activities and annual dinner for
closer bonding among the Group’s employees.

Customers

Continuous R&D efforts to improve quality of products.
Involving customers in the Company’s events to establish good relationship.

Suppliers

Close review on the Company’s working capital management to maintain liquidity
level required to repay its creditors on time.
Involving suppliers in the Company’s events to establish good relationship.

Community

During the Year 2011, the Company organized a Blood Donation Campaign and
encouraged its Group employees to participate as well as the general public.
The Group continues to provide practical training for students from various
universities and polytechnics under its Industrial Internship Training to equip
students with the necessary working skills and knowledge. In addition to that, the
Group also provides simulated Stock Games to universities in collaboration with
its panel of stockbroking clients in Malaysia, Singapore and Indonesia to create
awareness, education and information on stock trading.
Visit to an orphanage home and contribution of basic necessities to the home.
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Directors’
Report

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are carrying on the business as researcher and developer of software packages,
provider of design, programming, consultancy services and related activities.
The principal activities of its subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.
Financial Results
					
Group
					RM

Company
RM

Net loss for the financial year
- attributable to equity holders of the Company			

1,519,062

1,476,665

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year have
not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction
or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the
Company for the current financial year.
Dividends
The Board of Directors does not recommend any dividend in respect of the financial year under review.
Reserves and Provisions
There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review other than those
disclosed in the financial statements.
Issue of Shares and Debentures
There were no issue of shares or debentures by the Company during the financial year under review.
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Employee Share Option Scheme
The N2N Connect Berhad (“N2N”) Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was approved by shareholders at the General
Meetings on 13 October 2005 and 18 October 2005. The ESOS was implemented on 23 November 2005 and shall expire on
22 November 2010. Pursuant to the Board’s approval on 24 August 2010, the tenure of the ESOS has been extended for a
further 5 years, expiring on 22 December 2015.
The salient features and other terms of the ESOS are disclosed in Note 24 to the financial statements.
No other options were granted to any person to take up the unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.
Details of the options granted to Directors are disclosed in the section on Directors’ Interests in this report.
Repurchase of Shares
At the Tenth Annual General Meeting held on 20 June 2011, the shareholders approved the share buy-back of up to 10% or
up to 29,893,900 ordinary shares of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company.
During the financial year, the Company purchased a total of 1,774,900 ordinary shares of its issued and paid-up share capital
from the open market at a total cost of RM433,668 at an average price of RM0.24 per share.
The repurchase transactions were financed by internally generated funds. The repurchased shares are being held as treasury
shares and carried at cost in accordance with the requirements of section 67A of the Companies Act, 1965. There has been
no sale or cancellation of such shares to date.
At 31 December 2011, the total number of treasury shares held by the Company is 1,774,900 ordinary shares.
Directors
The Directors who served since the date of the last report are as follows:
Chua Tiong Hoong
Lai Su Ping
Tiang Boon Hwa
Cho Wai Loon
Izlan bin Izhab
Tan Boon Leng
Directors’ Interests
Details of holdings and deemed interests in the share capital and options over the shares of the Company or its related
corporations by the Directors in office at the end of the financial year, according to the register required to be kept under
Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965, were as follows:
No. of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
		At			At
			
1.1.2011
Acquired
Disposed
31.12.2011
N2N Connect Holdings Sdn. Bhd.
Direct interest
  Chua Tiong Hoong		
   Lai Su Ping		
   Tiang Boon Hwa		

20
280
646
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No. of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
		At			At
			
1.1.2011
Acquired
Disposed
31.12.2011
N2N Connect Berhad
Direct interest
  Chua Tiong Hoong		
   Lai Su Ping		
   Tiang Boon Hwa		
  Cho Wai Loon		
   Tan Boon Leng		
Indirect interest
   Chua Tiong Hoong ¹		
   Lai Su Ping ²		
   Tiang Boon Hwa ³		

779,354
10,096,844
10,099,444
200,000
1,232,700

–
–
485,000
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

779,354
10,096,844
10,584,444
200,000
1,232,700

364,000
145,548,954
145,546,354

–
485,000
–

–
–
–

364,000
146,033,954
145,546,354

No. Of options over ordinary shares
of RM0.10 each (ESOS)
			At			At
			
1.1.2011
Exercised
Lapsed
31.12.2011
N2N Connect Berhad
Chua Tiong Hoong		1,900,000
Lai Su Ping		
1,860,000
Tiang Boon Hwa		
2,180,000

–
–
–

–
–
–

1,900,000
1,860,000
2,180,000

Notes:
¹

Deemed interest through his spouse’s direct interest in the Company pursuant to Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act,
1965 in compliance with Companies (Amendment) Act 2007.

²

Deemed interest through her spouse’s direct interest in the Company pursuant to Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act,
1965 in compliance with Companies (Amendment) Act 2007 and her direct interest in the holding company, N2N Connect
Holdings Sdn. Bhd. Pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

³

Deemed interest through his spouse’s direct interest in the Company pursuant to Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act,
1965 in compliance with Companies (Amendment) Act 2007 and his direct interest in the holding company, N2N Connect
Holdings Sdn. Bhd. Pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Lai Su Ping and Tiang Boon Hwa are also deemed to have interests
in the shares of all its subsidiary companies to the extent the Company has an interest.
En. Izlan bin Izhab who holds office at the end of the financial year does not have any interest in the ordinary shares and
options of the Company or its related corporations during the financial year under review.
Directors’ Benefits
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive any
benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors
as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director
or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.
Neither during nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company or its subsidiary companies a party to any arrangement
the object of which is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those arising from the share options granted under
the N2N Connect Berhad ESOS.
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Other Statutory Information
(a)

Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company
were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:
(i)

to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate
allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii)

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value in the ordinary course of business
were written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b)		At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:
(i)

the amount written off for bad debts or the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the
Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent;

(ii)

the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company
misleading;

(iii)

any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading; and

(iv)

adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading
or inappropriate.

(c)

No contingent or other liabilities of the Group and of the Company have become enforceable, or are likely to become
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors,
will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

(d)

At the date of this report, there does not exist:
(i)

any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year
which secures the liabilities of any other person; and

(ii)

any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial
year.

Holding Company
The Directors regard N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia, as the holding company.
Subsequent Events
The subsequent events are disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements.
Auditors
The auditors, Morison Anuarul Azizan Chew, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.
		
CHUA TIONG HOONG			TIANG BOON HWA
KUALA LUMPUR
12 April 2012
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Statement

By Directors Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, CHUA TIONG HOONG and TIANG BOON HWA, being two of the Directors of N2N CONNECT BERHAD, do hereby state
that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 83 are drawn up in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011 and of the results of their operations and
the cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

		

CHUA TIONG HOONG		

TIANG BOON HWA

KUALA LUMPUR
12 April 2012

Statutory

Declaration Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, TIANG BOON HWA, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of N2N CONNECT BERHAD,
do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 35 to 83 are to the best of my knowledge
and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the
provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

)
Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed TIANG BOON HWA
)
at KUALA LUMPUR in the Federal
)
Territory this 12 April 2012
)
		
TIANG BOON HWA
		

Before me,
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Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of N2N Connect Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2011 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements
of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 35 to 83.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and the Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia, and for such internal
control as the Directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. These standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to Company’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also involves evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards in
Malaysia and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Company as at 31 December 2011 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report on the following:
(a)

In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company
and by its subsidiary companies of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

(b)

We have considered the financial statements and the independent auditors’ reports of the subsidiary company which
we have not acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 4 to the financial statements.

(c)

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that are consolidated with the Company’s
financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and have received satisfactory information and explanations as
required by us for those purposes.

(d)

The independent auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies were not subject to any
qualification and did not include any comment made under subsection (3) of Section 174 of the Act.
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Other Matters
This report is solely made to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies
Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume any responsibility to any other person for the content
of this report.
Other Reporting Responsibilities
The supplementary information set out in Note 36 is disclosed to meet the requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary
information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or
Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion,
the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

		
		

MORISON ANUARUL AZIZAN CHEW		
Firm Number: AF 001977		
Chartered Accountants		

SATHIEA SEELEAN A/L MANICKAM
Approved Number: 1729/05/14 (J/PH)
Partner of Firm

KUALA LUMPUR
12 April 2012
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Financial Position as at 31 December 2011

			2011
		
Note
RM
Non-Current Assets

Group

2010
RM

2011
RM

Company

2010
RM

				

Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiary companies
Intangible asset

3
4
5

7,885,003
–
8,999,375

12,917,844
–
7,799,064

4,518,648
2,095,000
8,999,375

9,902,194
2,095,000
7,799,064

			16,884,378
20,716,908
15,613,023
19,796,258
						
Current Assets					
Inventories		
6
2,150
2,150
2,150
2,150
7
4,739,330
5,484,842
1,687,273
2,353,926
Trade receivables
Other receivables
8
15,026,293
755,254
14,806,701
600,771
9
29,483
12,898
29,483
12,898
Amount owing by holding company
Amount owing by subsidiary companies 10
–
–
7,649,155
7,558,233
Tax recoverable		35,631
16,331
35,631
16,331
Marketable securities
11
857,787
12,301,172
857,787
12,301,172
Deposits with licensed bank
12
166,525
7,857
166,525
7,857
Cash and bank balances		
2,674,310
2,723,159
475,260
402,560
			23,531,509

21,303,663

25,709,965

23,255,898

461,974
1,197,358
86,212

372,723
1,147,555
36,384

449,579
409,724
86,212

279,030
406,539
36,384

			1,745,544

1,556,662

945,515

721,953

21,785,965

19,747,001

24,764,450

22,533,945

			38,670,343

40,463,909

40,377,473

42,330,203

Share capital		
16
29,893,900
Share premium		5,229,405
Treasury shares
17
(433,668)
Exchange reserve
18
220,801
Retained profits		3,620,926

29,893,900
5,229,405
–
213,885
5,097,591

29,893,900
5,229,405
(433,668)
–
5,687,836

29,893,900
5,229,405
–
–
7,206,898

Total equity - attributable to equity
holders of the Company		

40,434,781

40,377,473

42,330,203

Current Liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Amount owing to directors

13
14
15

Net current assets		

Financed By:

Non-Current Liability
Deferred tax liabilities

38,531,364

				
19

138,979

29,128

–

–

			38,670,343

40,463,909

40,377,473

42,330,203

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Comprehensive Income for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

			2011
		
Note
RM
Revenue		

Group

2010
RM

2011
RM

Company

2010
RM

20

20,719,540

14,949,301

12,835,932

10,096,192

Cost of sales			

(8,364,901)

(4,378,096)

(3,774,388)

(1,837,973)

Gross profit			12,354,639

10,571,205

9,061,544

8,258,219

Other operating income		

645,651

769,254

929,734

2,991,464

Administration expenses		

(14,154,475)

(17,786,538)

(11,297,711)

(16,277,939)

Loss before taxation

21

(1,154,185)

(6,446,079)

(1,306,433)

(5,028,256)

Taxation		

22

(322,480)

(778)

(212,629)

(5,061)

(1,476,665)

(6,446,857)

(1,519,062)

(5,033,317)

6,916

(56,699)

–

–

Net loss for the financial year
attributable to equity holders
of the Company		
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
- Exchange differences arising
from translation of foreign
operations			

Total comprehensive loss
for the financial year
attributable to equity holders
(1,469,749)
(6,503,556)
(1,519,062)
(5,033,317)
of the Company
					
Loss per share attributable to
equity holders of the Company
(sen)					
Basic		
23(a)
(0.49)
(2.16)		
Fully diluted		
23(b)
(0.49)
(2.16)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Changes in Equity for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

		
			 Share
			
Capital
		 Note
RM

Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
Non-distributable
Distributable
Share
Exchange
Retained
Premium
Reserve
Profits
RM
RM
RM

Group						
At 1 January 2010		
29,876,080
5,205,775
270,584
11,544,448
						
Issue of shares pursuant to:
– ESOS		
16
17,820
23,630
–
–
						
Net loss for the financial year		
–
–
–
(6,446,857)
Other comprehensive loss		
–
–
(56,699)
–
Total comprehensive loss
for the financial year		
–
–
(56,699)
(6,446,857)
						
At 31 December 2010		
29,893,900
5,229,405
213,885
5,097,591

		
		
		
Note
Group
At 1 January 2011		

Share
Capital
RM

Total
RM
46,896,887
41,450
(6,446,857)
(56,699)
(6,503,556)
40,434,781

Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
Non-distributable
Distributable
Share
Treasury Exchange
Retained
Premium
Shares
Reserve
Profits
RM
RM
RM
RM

Total
RM

29,893,900

5,229,405

–

213,885

5,097,591

40,434,781

–

–

(433,668)

–

–

(433,668)

Net loss for the financial year		
–
–
–
Other comprehensive income		
–
–
–
Total comprehensive loss
for the financial year		
–
–
–
		
At 31 December 2011		 29,893,900
5,229,405
(433,668)

–
6,916

(1,476,665)
–

(1,476,665)
6,916

6,916

(1,476,665)

(1,469,749)

220,801

3,620,926

38,531,364

Shares purchased
during the year
held as treasury shares

17

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Changes in Equity for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

		
			 Share
			
Capital
			RM

Non-distributable
Share
Treasury
Premium
Shares
RM
RM

Distributable
Retained
Profits
RM

Total
RM

–

12,240,215

47,322,070

–

–

41,450

–

(5,033,317)

(5,033,317)

–

7,206,898

42,330,203

29,893,900
5,229,405
–
At 1 January 2011		
					
Shares purchased during the
year held as treasury shares		
–
–
(433,668)

7,206,898

42,330,203

–

(433,668)

Company
At 1 January 2010		
29,876,080
5,205,775
					
Issue of shares pursuant to:
- ESOS			17,820
23,630
Total comprehensive loss for
the financial year		
–
–
					
At 31 December 2010		
29,893,900
5,229,405

Total comprehensive loss for
the financial year		
–
–
–
(1,519,062)
(1,519,062)
					
At 31 December 2011		
29,893,900
5,229,405
(433,668)
5,687,836
40,377,473
					

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

				2011
			
Note
RM
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Loss before taxation				
(1,154,185)
Adjustments for:
Allowance for impairment on trade receivables			
–
Amortisation of intangible asset				
1,363,591
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 			
6,765,082
Property, plant and equipment written–off			
–
Inventories written off				
–
Impairment loss on trade receivables			
–
Impairment loss on trade receivables written off			
1,094
Gain on disposal of marketable securities			
(142,373)
Loss on strike-off of a subsidiary company			
2,599
Fair value gain on marketable securities			
–
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment			
25
Interest income				
(218,019)
Dividend income				–
Operating profit before working capital changes			

2010
RM
(6,446,079)  
2,906,080
1,113,826
7,921,232
6,993
1,880
271,682
–
–
–
(49,748)
–
(282,784)
(37,818)

6,617,814

5,405,264

(Increase)/Decrease in working capital
Trade receivables				
767,712
Other receivables				
(14,272,481)
Trade payables				
82,311
Other payables 				
35,893
Amount owing to directors				
49,828
Amount owing by holding company				
(16,585)

(2,063,177)
916,462
(461,732)
(177,128)
(22,205)
(515)

				
(13,353,322)

(1,808,295)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 			

(6,735,508)

3,596,969

Interest received				218,019
Tax paid				
(231,929)

282,784
(38)

				
(13,910)

282,746

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities			

(6,749,418)

3,879,715

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Computer software development cost				
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 			
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment			
Shares buy back				
Cash outflow on strike-off of a subsidiary company		
4(c)
Net changes in marketable securities				
Proceeds from disposal of marketable securities			

(2,563,902)
(1,707,049)
350
(433,668)
(2)
10,876,658
709,100

(2,315,156)
(2,695,962)
–
–
–
(1,529,033)
–

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities			

6,881,487

(6,540,151)
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				2011
				RM
				
Cash Flows From Financing Activity
Proceeds from issue of shares 				
–

2010
RM
41,450

–
Net cash from financing activity				
				
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents			
132,069
Effect of exchange rate changes				
(22,250)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year		2,731,016

41,450
(2,618,986)
(7,329)
5,357,331

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year			2,840,835

2,731,016

				
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year comprises:			
Deposits with licensed bank				
166,525
Cash and bank balances				
2,674,310

7,857
2,723,159

				2,840,835

2,731,016

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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2011
				RM
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 		
Loss before taxation				
(1,306,433)
Adjustments for:		
Allowance for impairment on trade receivables			
–
Amortisation of intangible asset				
1,363,591
Impairment loss on loan and receivables			
–
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 			
5,687,939
Impairment loss on investment in a subsidiary company		
–
Property, plant and equipment written-off			
–
Fair value gain on marketable securities			
–
Inventories written off				
–
Bad debts written off				
1,094
Gain on disposal of marketable securities			
(142,373)
Dividend income				
–
Interest income				
(218,019)
(73,104)
Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss			

2010
RM
(5,028,256)
2,906,080
1,113,826
296,621
7,200,456
2
6,993
(49,748)
1,880
–
–
(37,818)
(282,784)
31,052

Operating profit before working capital changes			
5,312,695
		
(Increase)/Decrease in working capital		
Trade receivables				
666,653
Other receivables				
(14,205,930)
Trade payables				
170,549
Other payables 				
3,185
Amount owing to directors				
49,828
Amount owing by subsidiary companies			
(18,912)
Amount owing by holding company				
(16,585)

6,158,304

				
(13,351,212)

(1,679,799)

(8,038,517)

4,478,505

Interest received				218,019
Tax paid				
(231,929)

282,784
(38)

				
(13,910)

282,746

Cash (used in)/from operations			

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities			
		
Cash Flows From Investing Activities		
Computer software development cost				
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 			
Shares buy back				
Net changes in marketable securities				
Proceeds from disposal of marketable securities			
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities			
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975,134
(472,170)
(842,685)
(22,205)
(762,004)
(515)

(8,052,427)

4,761,251

(2,563,902)
(304,393)
(433,668)
10,876,658
709,100

(2,315,156)
(721,223)
–
(1,529,033)
–

8,283,795

(4,565,412)
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				2011
				RM
		
Cash Flows From Financing Activity		
Proceeds from issue of shares 				
–
Net cash from financing activity				
–
		
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents			231,368
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year		410,417
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year			641,785
		

2010
RM
41,450
41,450
237,289
173,128
410,417

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year comprises:			
Deposits with licensed bank				
166,525
Cash and bank balances				
475,260

7,857
402,560

				641,785

410,417

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1.

Corporate Information
The principal activities of the Company are carrying on the business as researcher and developer of software packages,
provider of design, programming, consultancy services and related activities.
The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated under the Companies Act, 1965 and domiciled in
Malaysia, and is listed on the Access, Certainty and Efficiency (“ACE”) Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The registered office of the Company is located at 3rd Floor, No. 17, Jalan Ipoh Kecil, 50350 Kuala Lumpur.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at Suite 4.03, 4th Floor, Kompleks Antarabangsa, Jalan Sultan
Ismail, 50250 Kuala Lumpur.

2.

Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies
(a)

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost convention
unless otherwise indicated in the accounting policies below and in compliance with the provisions of the
Companies Act, 1965 and the Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia.
During the financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted the following applicable amendments to
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) and revised FRSs issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board
(“MASB”) which are mandatory and will be effective for financial periods as stated below:

					
Effective date for
					
financial periods
					
beginning on
					
or after
		
Amendments to		Financial Instruments: Presentation			
1 March 2010
FRS 132		- paragraphs 11,16 and 97E			
FRS 3			Business Combinations (revised)			
1 July 2010
FRS 127		Consolidated and Separate Financial			
1 July 2010
		  Statements (revised)				
Amendments to
Share-based Payment				
1 July 2010
FRS 2
- paragraphs 5 and 61				
		
Group Cash – settled Shares – based			
1 January 2011
		  Payment Transactions			
Amendments to
Intangible Assets				
1 July 2010
FRS 138
Amendments to
Improving Disclosures about			
1 January 2011
FRS 7		
Financial Instruments				
Amendments to FRSs contained in the document entitled			
1 January 2011
“Improvements to FRSs (2010)”
The Directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of the above revised FRSs and
amendments to FRSs do not have any significant impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company, except as disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements.
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On 19 November 2011, MASB has issued a new MASB approved accounting framework, the Malaysian Financial
Reporting Standards (“MFRS Framework”). The MFRS Framework is to be applied by all Entities Other Than
Private Entities for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012, with the exception of entities that are
within the scope of MFRS 141, Agriculture and IC interpretation 15, Agreement for Construction of Real Estate,
including its parent, significant investor and venturer (“Transitioning Entities”).
Transitioning Entities will be allowed to defer adoption of the new MFRS framework for an additional one
year. The Group and the Company do not qualify as Transitioning Entities and therefore, the adoption of MFRS
framework will be mandatory for annual financial period beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
The Directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of the following FRSs and
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) which are mandatory and will be effective for financial
periods as stated below will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company, except as disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements:
					
Effective date for
					
financial periods
					
beginning on
					
or after
FRSs		
		
IC Interpretation 19		Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with			
1 July 2011
		 
Equity Instruments				
Amendments to IC
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding			
1 July 2011
Interpretation 14	 Requirement				
FRS 124
Related Party Disclosures (revised)			
1 July 2012
Amendment to FRS 1
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of			
1 January 2012
 		
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters			
Amendment to FRS 7
Disclosures – Transfers of Financial			
1 January 2012
 		 Assets
Amendment to
Deferred tax: Recovery of Underlying			
1 January 2012
FRS 112	 Assets
Amendment to
Presentation of items of Other			
1 July 2012
FRS 101	  Comprehensive Income
FRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements			
1 January 2013
FRS 11
Joint Arrangements				
1 January 2013
FRS 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other			
1 January 2013
		 Entities
FRS 13
Fair Value Measurement			
1 January 2013
Employee Benefits (as amended in			
1 January 2013
FRS 119
		  November 2011)
FRS 127
Consolidated and Separate Financial			
1 January 2013
		  Statements (as amended in November
		  2011)
FRS 128
Investments in Associates (as amended			
1 January 2013
		  in November 2011)
IC Interpretation 20
Stripping Costs in the Production			
1 January 2013
		  Phase of a Surface Mine
Amendments to
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial			
1 January 2013
FRS 7			  Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to
Offsetting Financial Assets and			
1 January 2014
FRS 132	  Financial Liabilities
FRS 9		
Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued			
1 January 2015
	  by IASB in November 2009)
		
Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued
		  by IASB in October 2010)
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Effective date for
					
financial periods
					
beginning on
					
or after
MFRSs		
		
MFRS 1
First-time Adoption of Malaysian 			
	  Financial Reporting Standards
Share-based Payment				
MFRS 2
Business Combinations 			
MFRS 3
MFRS 4
Insurance Contracts				
MFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and			
		  Discontinued Operations
MFRS 6
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources		
Financial Instruments: Disclosures			
MFRS 7
MFRS 8
Operating Segments				
Presentation of Financial Statements			
MFRS 101
MFRS 102
Inventories				
MFRS 107
Statement of Cash Flows			
MFRS 108
Accounting Policies, Changes in			
		  Accounting Estimates and Errors
MFRS 110
Events After the Reporting Period			
Construction Contracts			
MFRS 111
MFRS 112
Income Taxes				
MFRS 116
Property, Plant and Equipment			
MFRS 117
Leases				
MFRS 118
Revenue				
MFRS 119
Employee Benefits				
MFRS 120
Accounting for Government Grants			
		  and Disclosure of Government Assistance
MFRS 121
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates		
MFRS 123
Borrowing Costs				
MFRS 124
Related Party Disclosures			
MFRS 126
Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 		
MFRS 127
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements		
MFRS 128
Investments in Associates			
MFRS 129
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies		
Interests in Joint Ventures			
MFRS 131
MFRS 132
Financial Instruments: Presentation			
MFRS 133
Earnings Per Share				
MFRS 134
Interim Financial Reporting			
MFRS 136
Impairment of Assets				
MFRS 137
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets		
MFRS 138
Intangible Assets				
MFRS 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement		
MFRS 140
Investment Property				
MFRS 141
Agriculture				
IC Interpretation 1
Changes in Existing Decommissioning,			
		  Restoration and Similar Liabilities			
IC Interpretation 2
Members’ Shares in Co-operative			
		  Entities and Similar Instruments
IC Interpretation 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease		
IC Interpretation 5
Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, 		
		  Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds		
IC Interpretation 6
Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific 		
		  Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
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Effective date for
					
financial periods
					
beginning on
					
or after
MFRSs
IC Interpretation 7
Applying the Restatement Approach under MFRS 129		
1 January 2012
		  Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies		
IC Interpretation 9
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives			
1 January 2012
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment		
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 10
Service Concession Arrangements			
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 12
IC Interpretation 13
Customer Loyalty Programmes			
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 14
MFRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum		
1 January 2012
		  Funding Requirements and their Interaction		
IC Interpretation 15
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate		
1 January 2012
Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation		
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 16
IC Interpretation 17
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners		
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 18
Transfers of Assets from Customers			
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 19
Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments		
1 January 2012
Introduction of the Euro			
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 107
IC Interpretation 110
Government Assistance – No Specific			
1 January 2012
		  Relation to Operating Activities			
IC Interpretation 112
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities			
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 113
Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-			
1 January 2012
		  Monetary Contributions by Venturers
IC Interpretation 115
Operating Leases – Incentives			
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 125
Income Taxes – Changes in the Tax			
1 January 2012
		  Status of an Entity or its Shareholders
IC Interpretation 127
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
		  Form of a Lease				
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 129
Service Concession Arrangements: 			
1 January 2012
		 Disclosures		
IC Interpretation 131
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services		
1 January 2012
IC Interpretation 132
Intangible Assets – Web Site Costs			
1 January 2012
Presentation of items of Other			
1 July 2012
Amendments to
MFRS 101	  Comprehensive Income
MFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements			
1 January 2013
MFRS 11
Joint Arrangements				
1 January 2013
MFRS 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities			
1 January 2013
Fair Value Measurement			
1 January 2013
MFRS 13
MFRS 119
Employee Benefits				
1 January 2013
MFRS 127
Separate Financial Statements (IAS 27			
1 January 2013
		  as amended by IASB in June 2011)			
MFRS 128
Investments in Associates and Joint			
1 January 2013
		  Ventures (IAS 28 as amended by IASB in June 2011)		
IC Interpretation 20
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine		
1 January 2013
Amendments to
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial			
1 January 2013
MFRS 7	  Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to
Offsetting Financial Assets and			
1 January 2014
MFRS 132	  Financial Liabilities
MFRS 9
Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in November 2009)		
1 January 2015
			Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in October 2010)
(b)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Company’s functional currency.
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(c)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial
statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on historical
experience and other relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.
(I)		The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation or uncertainty at the
statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:
(i)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The costs of property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets. Management estimates the useful lives of
the property, plant and equipment as stated in Note 2(e)(iii). These are common life expectancies
applied in the industry. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments
could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future
depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s and of the Company’s
property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2011 are stated in Note 3 to the financial statements.

(ii)

Amortisation of intangible asset
The costs of intangible asset of the Group and of the Company are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the useful life of the asset. Management estimates the useful life of the computer software
as stated in Note 2(g). These are common life expectancies applied in the industry. Changes in
the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful
life and the residual value of this asset, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
The carrying amount of the Group’s and of the Company’s intangible asset at 31 December 2011
is stated in Note 5 to the financial statements.

(iii)

Income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. There are certain transactions
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Significant judgement is involved especially in determining tax base allowances and
deductibility of certain expenses in determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. The
Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

(II)

The following are the judgements made by the management in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
(i)

Impairment of loans and receivables
The policy for impairment of loans and receivables of the Group and the Company is based on the
evaluation of collectability and aged analysis of accounts and on the management’s judgement.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers with which the Group and the Company deals were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of the ability to make payments, additional impairment
may be required.
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(ii)

Classification of financial assets
The Group classifies financial assets as held-to-maturity investments when it has a positive intention
and ability to hold the investment to maturity. Management exercises judgement based on the
Group’s financial risk management policy to determine whether the financial assets are to be
classified as held-to-maturity.

(d)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
companies made up to the end of the financial year. Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost
less impairment losses. The policy of the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance
with Note 2(f ).
(i) Subsidiary companies
Subsidiary companies are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power
to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiary companies.
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed attributable to the acquirer in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition.
Acquisition related costs incurred are expensed and included in the administration expenses. The
difference between the acquisition cost and the fair values of the subsidiary companies’ net assets is
reflected as goodwill or reserve on consolidation as appropriate.
Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group to
the date on which that control ceases.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed
to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance with FRS139 either in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not
be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent
consideration does not fall within the scope of FRS139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate
FRS.
(ii)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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(iii)

Changes in Group composition
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
-

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;
Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
Recognises the fair value of any investment retained as an associate, joint venture or financial
asset;
Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;
Reclassifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

(e)		Property, plant and equipment
(i)

Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance
with Note 2(f ).
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other cost directly attributable to
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use and the costs of dismantling and removing
the items and restoring the site on which they are located.
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

(ii)

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow
to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property,
plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

(iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful
lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings
Renovation
Motor vehicles

3 to 5 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
5 years

The depreciable amount is determined after deducting the residual value.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each financial year end.
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing net disposal proceeds with carrying amount
and are included in profit/(loss) from operations.
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(f)

Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment.
If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount is
estimated at each reporting date or more frequently when indications of impairment are identified.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
recognised directly against any revaluation surplus for the asset to the extent that the impairment loss does
not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. A cash-generating unit is the smallest
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups.
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which it arises.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the units (groups of units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (groups of units) on a pro rata basis.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.
The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided
that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment
loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in statement of comprehensive income, unless the asset is
carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

(g)

Intangible asset
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use of the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense
when incurred. Cost that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software products controlled by the
Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as
intangible assets. Costs include employee costs incurred as a result of developing software and an appropriate
portion of relevant of overheads.
Costs which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmes beyond their original
specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of software.
`Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using straight line method over
their estimated useful lives, not exceeding a period of 10 years.

(h)

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after adequate allowance has been made
for all deteriorated, damaged, obsolete or slow-moving inventories. Cost is determined using the first in, first
out method.
Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of
completion and selling expenses.
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(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, deposits and other short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. For
the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts
and pledged deposits, if any.

(j)

Foreign currencies
(i)

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items initially denominated in foreign currencies, which are carried at historical cost are
translated using historical rate as of the date of acquisition and non-monetary items which are carried
at fair value are translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were determined.

(ii)

Foreign operations
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(1)

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(2)

income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(3)

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of the gain or
loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign subsidiary companies are treated
as assets and liabilities and translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the transaction dates.
The closing exchange rates used for each unit of the main foreign currencies in the Group and in the
Company are as follows:
					2011
					RM

2010
RM

Singapore Dollar				2.4417
Indonesia Rupiah				0.0349
US Dollar				3.1770

2.3859
0.0309
3.0835
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(k)

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group and the Company have
become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this at every reporting date except for financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets that are designated or held for
trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the short term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets
in this category are classified as current assets.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction
costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. After initial recognition, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
unquoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to
a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable.
Loans and receivables in the statements of financial position consist of trade and other receivables,
marketable securities and inter-company loans and advances. These are classified as current assets,
except for those having maturity dates later than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified
as non-current assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income when the loans
and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(iii)

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income when
the held-to-maturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(iv)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the statement of financial position date.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
their acquisitions. Investment in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
valued at cost less impairment loss.
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After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Any
gains and losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and
interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in statement of comprehensive
income.

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in statement of comprehensive income.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
category are presented in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as part of other operating income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.
(l)

Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. For an equity instrument, a significant or
prolonged declined in fair value below its cost is also considered objective evidence of impairment.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised costs, the reversal is recognised in statement
of comprehensive income.

(m)

Financial liabilities
Short-term borrowings, trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities in the statement of financial
position as there is a contractual obligation to make cash payments to another entity and is contractually
obliged to settle the liabilities in cash.
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except when the Group designates the liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss when:
(i)

they are acquired or incurred for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term;

(ii)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies that
would otherwise arise from measuring financial liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them; or

(iii)

the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
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(n)

Income taxes
Income tax on the profit or loss for the financial year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the
expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the financial year and is measured
using the tax rates that have been enacted at the statement of financial position date.
Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the statement of financial
position date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting
profit nor taxable profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of
financial position date. Deferred tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it
arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged
or credited directly in equity, or when it arises from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case
the deferred tax is included in the resulting goodwill or negative goodwill.

(o)

Revenue recognition
(i)

Goods sold and services rendered
Revenue from sales of goods and services is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable and
is recognised when significant risk and rewards have been transferred to the buyer, or upon performance
of services, net of sales taxes and discounts.

(ii)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes into account the effective yield on
the asset.

(iii)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

(p)

Employee benefits
(i)

Short term employee benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the financial
year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company. Short
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are
rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensation absences. Short term
non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick and medical leave are recognised when the
absences occur.
The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is measured as additional amount expected to
be paid as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the statement of financial position
date.
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(ii)

Defined contribution plans
As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”).
The Group’s foreign subsidiary company makes contributions to its respective country’s statutory pension
scheme. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income
as incurred.

(iii)

Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)
The N2N ESOS, an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, allows the Company and its subsidiary
company’s employees to acquire ordinary shares of the Company. The total fair value of share options
granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the share
option reserve within equity over the vesting period and taking into account the probability that the
options will vest. The fair value of share options is measured at grant date, taking into account, if any,
the market vesting conditions upon which the options were granted but excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of options that are expected to become exercisable on vesting date.
At each statement of financial position date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to become exercisable on vesting date. It recognised the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, and a corresponding adjustment to equity
over the remaining vesting period. The equity amount is recognised in the share option reserve until
the option is exercised, upon which it will be transferred to share premium, or until the option expires,
upon which it will be transferred directly to retained earnings.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to equity when the
options are exercised.

(q)

Equity instruments
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in
which they are declared.
The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of tax. Equity
transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction
which would otherwise have been avoided.

(r)

Segment reporting
For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segment based on their business activities.
An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, who
will make decisions to allocate resources to the segments and assess the segment performance.

(s)

Treasury shares
When shares of the Company, that have not been cancelled, recognised as equity are reacquired, the amount
of consideration paid is recognised directly in equity. Reacquired shares are classified as treasury shares and
presented as a deduction from total equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the statements of comprehensive
income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares. When treasury shares are reissued by
resale, the difference between the sales consideration and the carrying amount is recognised in equity.
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3.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Group
Cost
At 1.1.2011
Additions
Written-off
Exchange differences

Computer
equipment
RM

Office
equipment
RM

37,496,682
1,707,049
–
57,134

274,181
–
–
456

Furniture		
and fittings Renovation
RM
RM
309,273
–
(536)
300

504,329
–
–
–

Motor
vehicles
RM

Total
RM

308,008
–
–
–

38,892,473
1,707,049
(536)
57,890

39,260,865
274,637
309,037
504,329
308,008
40,656,876
At 31.12.2011
						
Accumulated depreciation 						
At 1.1.2011
25,269,964
103,164
124,552
181,208
295,741
25,974,629
Charge for the financial year
6,644,533
27,040
30,809
50,433
12,267
6,765,082
–
–
(161)
–
–
(161)
Written-off
Exchange differences
32,240
58
25
–
–
32,323
At 31.12.2011
31,946,737
130,262
155,225
231,641
308,008
32,771,873
						
Carrying amount
At 31.12.2011
7,314,128
144,375
153,812
272,688
–
7,885,003
						
Cost
At 1.1.2010
Additions
Written-off
Exchange differences

35,033,903
2,589,685
(80,909)
(45,997)

239,765
34,570
–
(154)

266,036
43,658
(420)
(1)

476,280
28,049
–
–

308,008
–
–
–

36,323,992
2,695,962
(81,329)
(46,152)

At 31.12.2010
37,496,682
274,181
309,273
504,329
308,008
38,892,473
						
Accumulated depreciation
At 1.1.2010
17,567,446
78,177
96,667
132,520
268,186
18,142,996
Charge for the financial year
7,791,857
24,992
28,140
48,688
27,555
7,921,232
Written-off
(74,073)
–
(263)
–
–
(74,336)
Exchange differences
(15,266)
(5)
8
–
–
(15,263)
At 31.12.2010
25,269,964
103,164
124,552
181,208
295,741
25,974,629
						
Carrying amount						
At 31.12.2010
12,226,718
171,017
184,721
323,121
12,267
12,917,844
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3.

Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

Company

Computer
equipment
RM

Office
equipment
RM

Furniture		
and fittings Renovation
RM
RM

Motor
vehicles
RM

Total
RM

Cost						
At 1.1.2011
32,822,299
254,710
289,670
504,329
308,008
34,179,016
Additions
304,393
–
–
–
–
304,393
At 31.12.2011

33,126,692

254,710

289,670

504,329

308,008

34,483,409

Accumulated depreciation
At 1.1.2011
Charge for the financial year

23,577,019
5,571,310

101,031
25,056

121,823
28,873

181,208
50,433

295,741
12,267

24,276,822
5,687,939

At 31.12.2011

29,148,329

126,087

150,696

231,641

308,008

29,964,761

Carrying amount
At 31.12.2011
3,978,363
128,623
138,974
272,688
–
4,518,648
						
Cost						
At 1.1.2010
32,260,021
232,870
259,216
476,280
308,008
33,536,395
Additions
640,460
21,840
30,874
28,049
–
721,223
Written-off
(78,182)
–
(420)
–
–
(78,602)
At 31.12.2010

32,822,299

254,710

289,670

504,329

308,008

34,179,016

Accumulated depreciation 						
At 1.1.2010
16,574,528
77,315
95,428
132,519
268,185
17,147,975
Charge for the financial year
7,073,837
23,716
26,658
48,689
27,556
7,200,456
Written-off
(71,346)
–
(263)
–
–
(71,609)
At 31.12.2010
Carrying amount
At 31.12.2010

23,577,019

101,031

121,823

181,208

295,741

24,276,822

9,245,280

153,679

167,847

323,121

12,267

9,902,194

N2N Connect Berhad

N2N AR2011 (man).indd 57

Annual Report 2011

5/21/12 7:23 PM

Financial Section

58

Notes to the

Financial Statements

4.

Investment in Subsidiary Companies
(a)		Investment in subsidiary companies
					2011
					RM
			
Unquoted shares, at cost			
In Malaysia				1,000,002
Outside Malaysia				1,392,000

(b)

Company

2010
RM

1,000,002
1,392,000

					2,392,002
Impairment loss				
(297,002)

2,392,002
(297,002)

					2,095,000

2,095,000

The subsidiary companies and shareholding therein are as follows:
		
Country of
Equity
Name of company
incorporation
interest
Principal activities
			
2011
2010
%
%
			
					
* N2N Connect Pte. Ltd.
Singapore
100
100
Provide consultancy
					  services, sales, marketing
					  and related activities
					
N2N Global Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
Malaysia
100
100
Research and development
					  of software packages
					  and provision of design,
					  programming, consultancy
				  services and related services
					
Getemo Sdn. Bhd.
Malaysia
–
100
Strike-off pursuant to Section
				  308 of the Companies Act
					  1965
					
NGN Connection Sdn. Bhd.
Malaysia
100
100
Provision of managed network
					  services, consultancy services,
					  sales, marketing and related
activities
				 
*

(c)

Subsidiary company not audited by Morison Anuarul Azizan Chew.

Strike-off of a subsidiary company
The strike-off of the subsidiary company does not have any effects on the financial results of the Group.
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The effect of the strike off on the financial position of the Group during the financial year is as follows:
					2011
					RM
				
Other receivables				
3,397
Other payables				
(800)
2
Cash in hand				

Group

2010
RM
–
–
–

Net assets				
2,599

–

The fair value of the assets and liabilities of subsidiary company strike off is as follows:
					2011
					RM

5.

Group

2010
RM

3,397
Other receivables				
Other payables				
(800)
Cash in hand				
2

–
–
–

Group’s share of net assets				
Loss on strike-off of a subsidiary company			

2,599
(2,599)

–
–

					–
Less: cash in hand				
(2)

–
–

Net cash outflow on strike-off of a
subsidiary company				

–

(2)

Intangible Asset
Group/Company
					2011
2010
				
Note
RM
RM
Computer software				
Cost 			
At 1 January				
12,233,591
Addition during the financial year			
25
2,563,902
At 31 December				

14,797,493

12,233,591

4,434,527

3,320,701

1,363,591

1,113,826

At 31 December				

5,798,118

4,434,527

Carrying amount 				

8,999,375

7,799,064

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January				
Amortised during the financial year,
included in cost of sales				
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(a)

Impairment test for intangible asset
Computer software is subject to impairment testing by allocation to the software service cash-generating unit
(“CGU”).

(b)		Key assumptions used to determine recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use calculations using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a five-year period. A pre-tax discount rate of
7.8% per annum was applied to the cash flow projections, after taking into consideration the expected rate of
return and various risk relating to the CGU.
6.

Inventories
Group/Company
					2010
2009
					RM
RM
At cost			
Finished goods				2,150

7.

2,150

Trade Receivables

Group
Company
		2011
2010
2011
2010
		RM
RM
RM
RM
						
Trade receivables		29,225,292
Allowance for impairment		 (24,485,962)

29,978,804
(24,493,962)

26,173,235
(24,485,962)

26,839,888
(24,485,962)

			4,739,330

5,484,842

1,687,273

2,353,926

The Group and the Company’s normal trade credit terms range from 30 to 90 days (2010: 30 to 90 days).
The ageing analysis is as follows:
		Group
					2011
2010
					RM
RM
			
Neither past due nor impaired				
1,408,682
2,407,300
1 to 30 days past due but not impaired			
31 to 60 days past due but not impaired			
61 to 90 days past due but not impaired			
91 to 120 days past due but not impaired			
More than 121 days past due but not impaired			

674,318
682,748
364,961
350,524
1,223,471

534,982
181,869
102,064
416,109
1,802,506

					3,296,022
Individually impaired				24,520,588

3,037,530
24,533,974

					29,225,292

29,978,804

N2N Connect Berhad

N2N AR2011 (man).indd 60

Annual Report 2011

5/21/12 7:23 PM

61

Financial Section

Notes to the

Financial Statements

		Company
					2011
					RM

2010
RM

Neither past due nor impaired				

300,212

372,672

1 to 30 days past due but not impaired			
31 to 60 days past due but not impaired			
61 to 90 days past due but not impaired			
91 to 120 days past due but not impaired			
More than 121 days past due but not impaired			

267,049
226,620
51,093
190,991
616,682

191,547
32,872
29,637
34,709
1,652,477

					1,352,435
Individually impaired				24,520,588

1,941,242
24,525,974

					26,173,235

26,839,888

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with
the Group and the Company. These debtors are mostly long term customers with no history of default in payments.
The Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables that are past due at the reporting date but not impaired relate
mainly to customers who have never defaulted on payments but are slow paymasters, hence, periodically monitored.
Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors with significant
delay in repayment.
Movements in allowance for impairment during the financial year are as follows:
		2011
		RM
At beginning of the
financial year		24,493,962
Allowance made during
the year			
- Individually		
–
Written-off		
(8,000)
At end of the financial
year			24,485,962
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2011
RM

2010
RM

21,587,882

24,485,962

21,579,882

2,906,080
–

–
–

2,906,080
–

24,493,962

24,485,962

24,485,962
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8.

Other Receivables

		2011
		RM

9.

10.

Group

Company

2010
RM

2011
RM

2010
RM

Other receivables		351,773
Deposits		347,939
Deposit for purchase of
12,600,000
office building		
Prepayments 		1,726,581

361,059
313,249

320,719
240,196

350,221
233,252

–
80,946

12,600,000
1,645,786

–
17,298

			15,026,293

755,254

14,806,701

600,771

Amount Owing by Holding Company
(a)

The Directors regard N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia, as the holding
company.

(b)

This represents unsecured interest free advances which are repayable on demand.

Amount Owing by Subsidiary Companies
This represents unsecured interest free advances which are repayable on demand.

11.

Marketable Securities
		
Group/Company
					2011
2010
					RM
RM
Held for trading investment
Quoted shares in Malaysia				
Quoted unit trusts in Malaysia				

–
857,787

566,727
11,734,445

					
857,787
			

12,301,172

The market value of the quoted shares and quoted unit trusts are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.
12.

Deposits with Licensed Bank
Interest rates on deposits with licensed banks range from 2.19% to 2.92% (2010: 2.65% ) per annum and have average
maturity period of 1 to 4 days (2010: 1 to 4 days).

13.

Trade Payables
The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group and the Company range from 30 to 90 days (2010: 30 to 90 days).
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14.

Other Payables

		2011
		RM
			
Other payables 		480,754
Accruals 		716,604
			1,197,358

15.

Group

Company

2010
RM

2011
RM

2010
RM

655,936
491,619

10,686
399,038

185,349
221,190

1,147,555

409,724

406,539

Amount Owing to Directors
This represents unsecured interest free advances which are repayable on demand.

16.

Share Capital

Group/Company
		2011
2010
2011
2010
Number of Ordinary Shares
RM
RM
							
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each:				
				
Authorised		500,000,000
500,000,000
50,000,000
50,000,000
			
Issued and fully paid				
At 1 January		
298,939,000
298,760,800
29,893,900
Issued during the financial
  
year		–
178,200
–
At 31 December		

17.

298,939,000

298,939,000

29,893,900

29,876,080
17,820
29,893,900

Treasury Shares
		
Group/Company
					2011
2010
					RM
RM
		
At 1 January				
–
–
Shares purchased during the financial year			
433,668
–
At 31 December				
		
No. of ordinary shares at RM0.10 each			

433,668

–

1,774,900

–

During the financial year, the Company purchased a total of 1,774,900 ordinary shares of its issued share capital from
the open market at a total cost of RM433,668. The average price paid for the shares purchased was RM0.24 per share.
The repurchase transactions were financed by internally generated funds. The repurchased shares being held as
treasury shares and carried at cost in accordance with the requirements of section 67A of the Companies Act, 1965.
Treasury shares had no rights to voting, dividends and participation in other distribution.
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18.

Exchange Reserve
The exchange reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

19.

Deferred Tax Liabilities
		
					2011
				
Note
RM
		
At 1 January				
29,128
Recognised in statements of comprehensive
income			
22
95,137
Under/(Over) provision in prior year			
14,714
At 31 December				

Group

2010
RM
33,411
21,299
(25,582)

138,979

29,128

Presented after appropriate offsetting are as follows:
		
					2011
					RM
		
Deferred tax liabilities				
647,929
(508,950)
Deferred tax assets				

Group

					
138,979

2010
RM
240,809
(211,681)
29,128

The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets prior to offsetting are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities of the Group:
					
Accelerated
					
capital
					
allowances
					
RM
At 1 January 2011					
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income				

240,809
407,120

At 31 December 2011					

647,929

At 1 January 2010					
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income				
Over provision in prior year					

33,411
232,980
(25,582)

At 31 December 2010					

240,809
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Deferred tax assets of the Group:
						
Unutilised
						
capital
						
allowances
						
RM
		
At 1 January 2011					
(211,681)
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income				
(297,269)
At 31 December 2011					

(508,950)

At 1 January 2010					
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income				

–
(211,681)

At 31 December 2010					

(211,681)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following temporary differences:
Group
Company
		2011
2010
2011
2010
		RM
RM
RM
RM
						
Unutilised capital allowances		
1,573,455
2,998,368
–
–
1,365,335
1,745,250
–
81,403
Unabsorbed tax losses		
			2,938,790

4,743,618

–

81,403

The unabsorbed tax losses and unutilised capital allowances are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable
profits of the Group and the Company in which those items arose.
20.

Revenue
This represents billings for professional services rendered net of discounts.
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21.

Loss before Taxation
Loss before taxation is derived after charging/(crediting):

		2011
		RM

Group

2010
RM

2011
RM

Allowance for impairment		
–
2,906,080
–
Amortisation of intangible asset		1,363,591
1,113,826
1,363,591
Auditors’ remuneration				
- statutory		33,078
27,400
18,000
- other		22,700
22,500
21,700
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment		
6,765,082
7,921,232
5,687,939
Directors’ remuneration
- Fees			161,316
141,600
161,316
- Salaries and other emoluments		
806,003
637,852
305,548
53,126
33,348
- EPF			63,599
Impairment loss on trade
receivables		
–
271,682
–
Impairment loss on trade
receivables written off		
1,094
–
1,094
Impairment loss of investment
in a subsidiary company		
–
–
–
Rental of premises		549,415
512,894
546,615
Loss on strike-off of a
subsidiary company		
2,599
–
–
Loss on disposal of property,
25
–
–
plant and equipment		
Lease rental		162,313
126,178
–
Property, plant and equipment
–
6,993
–
written-off		
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss				
- Realised		 63,006
191,184
594
- Unrealised		
–
–
(73,104)
Interest income		
(218,019)
(282,784)
(218,019)
Gain on disposal of marketable
(142,373)
–
(142,373)
securities		
Dividend income		
–
(37,818)
–
Fair value gain on marketable
securities		
–
(49,748)
–
Management fee received/
receivable from subsidiary
–
–
(496,238)
companies		
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2010
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2,906,080
1,113,826
17,000
22,500
7,200,456
141,600
245,634
27,936
296,621
–
2
479,294
–
–
–
6,993
181,510
31,052
(282,784)
–
(37,818)
(49,748)
(2,223,803)
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22.

Taxation

		2011
Note
RM

Group

2010
RM

2011
RM

Company

2010
RM

Statutory tax:			
Current year provision		
12,000
Under provision in
  
prior year		200,629

–

12,000

–

5,061

200,629

5,061

			212,629

5,061

212,629

5,061

Deferred taxation:					
Relating to origination of
temporary differences
19
95,137
21,299
–
–
Under/(Over) provision in
   prior year		
14,714
(25,582)
–
–
			

109,851

(4,283)

–

–

Tax expense for the
financial year		322,480

778

212,629

5,061

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) of the estimated assessable
profit for the financial year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective
jurisdictions.
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A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to income
tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company are as follows:
		2011
		
RM
Loss before taxation		 (1,154,185)
		
Taxation at statutory tax
rate of 25% (2010: 25%)		
(288,546)
Expenses not deductible
for tax purposes		
108,619
Tax incentive arising from
pioneer status		
(389,438)
Income not subject to tax		
(53,907)
Utilisation of previously
unrecognised capital
allowance and unused tax
losses		(877,525)
Reversal of deferred tax
liabilities not recognised		
1,368,861
Deferred tax assets not
162,549
recognised		
Effect of different tax rates
76,524
in other country		
Under provision of
200,629
taxation in prior year		
Under/(Over) provision of
deferred tax in prior year		
14,714
Tax expense for the
financial year		

322,480

Group

Company

2010
RM

2011
RM

2010
RM

(6,466,079)

(1,306,433)

(5,028,256)

(1,611,520)

(326,608)

(1,257,064)

550,885

76,797

548,590

–
(70,696)

(389,438)
(53,907)

–
(70,696)

–

(663,705)

–

–

1,368,861

–

1,100,942

–

779,170

51,688

–

–

5,061

200,629

5,061

(25,582)

–

–

778

212,629

5,061

The Group and the Company have unabsorbed tax losses amounting to approximately RM1,365,000 and Nil (2010:
RM1,745,000 and Nil) respectively and unutilised capital allowances amounting to approximately RM1,573,000 and
RM79,000 (2010: RM2,998,000 and RM81,000) respectively available for carry forward to set-off against future taxable
profits. The said amounts are subject to approval by the tax authorities.
The Company was granted Pioneer Status by the relevant authority for a period of five years effective from 1 July
2004 to 30 June 2009. The Company has applied for an extension of Pioneer Status for another five years in 2009. On
20 July 2011, the extension of Pioneer Status for another five years has been approved by authority concerned for
another five years effective from 29 June 2009 to 30 June 2014.
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23.

Loss Per Share
(a)

Basic loss per share
The loss per share has been calculated based on the consolidated loss after taxation for the financial year
attributable to equity holders of the Company of RM1,476,665 (2010: RM6,446,857) for the Group and the
adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year of 298,939,000 (2010:
298,849,299).

		
					2011
					RM
			
Net loss for the financial year attributable to
the equity holders of the Company			
1,476,665
			
Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue			
298,939,000
(b)

Group

2010
RM
6,446,857

298,849,299

Fully diluted loss per share
Fully diluted loss per share has been calculated based on the consolidated loss after taxation for the financial
year attributable to equity holders of the Company of RM1,476,665 (2010: RM6,446,857) for the Group and the
adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and issuable of 298,939,000 (2010: 298,849,299).

		
					2011
					RM
		
Net loss for the financial year
attributable to the equity holders of the
Company				1,476,665
		
Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue			
298,939,000
Adjusted for:		
Assumed exercise of ESOS at
no consideration				*
					298,939,000
*

2010
RM

6,446,857
298,849,299
*
298,849,299

The number of shares under ESOS was not taken into account in the computation of diluted loss per
share because the effect on the basic loss per share antidilutive.
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24.

Employee Share Option Scheme
The N2N Connect Berhad (“N2N”) Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was approved by shareholders at the
General Meetings on 13 October 2005 and 18 October 2005. The ESOS was implemented on 23 November 2005
and shall be in force for a period of 5 years from the date of implementation. Pursuant to the Board’s approval on 24
August 2010, the tenure of the ESOS has been extended for a further 5 years, expiring on 22 December 2015.
The main features of the ESOS which is constituted under the by-laws are as follows:
(a)

The total number of new ordinary shares which may be made available under the ESOS shall not exceed 10% of
the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company at any point in time during the tenure of the ESOS.

(b)

All employees and Directors of the Group shall be eligible to participate in the ESOS, if, as at the offer date, the
employee or Director:
(i)

has attained the age of eighteen (18) years; and

(ii)

is employed by and is on the payroll of a company within the Group or a Director of any of the companies
within the Group;

Any allocation of options under the ESOS to any person who is a Director of the Company shall require prior
approval from the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.
(c)

The number of new shares that may be offered and allotted to any of the eligible employees of the Group
who are entitled to participate in the ESOS shall be at the discretion of the Option Committee after taking into
consideration the position, performance and contribution to the Group, seniority and length of service of the
eligible employee in the Group subject to the following:
(i)

the number of new shares allocated, in aggregate, to the Directors and senior management of the Group
shall not exceed 50% of the total new shares available under the ESOS;

(ii)

the number of shares allocated to an eligible employee who either singly or collectively through persons
connected with the eligible employee holds 20% or more of the issued and paid up share capital of the
Company, shall not exceed 10% of the total new shares available under the ESOS.

(d)

The option price shall be determined at a discount of not more than 10% from the weighted average market
price of the Company’s ordinary shares of RM0.10 each for five (5) market days preceding the date of offer, or
the par value of the shares, whichever is higher. In the event the ESOS is made to the eligible employees prior
to the admission of the Company on the Malaysian Exchange of Securities Dealing & Automated Quotation
(“MESDAQ”) Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), subsequently transformed into the
ACE Market, the option price shall be the higher of the theoretical ex-bonus price after the public issue and
bonus issue of RM0.41 or the par value of the shares.

(e)

The ESOS shall come into force for a duration of ten (10) years from the effective date 23 November 2005.

(f )

The new shares to be allotted upon any exercise of the options shall upon issue and allotment rank pari passu
in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company save and except that the new shares will not
be entitled to participate in any dividends, rights, allotments and/or other distributions that may be declared,
where the entitlement date precedes the said date of allotment and issuance as stipulated therein.

(g)

The option is personal to the grantee and is non-assignable.

(h)

A Grantee shall exercise his options by notice in writing to the Company in the prescribed form stating the
number of options exercised, the number of shares relating thereto and the Grantee’s individual/nominee CDS
account number. The options shall be exercised in multiples of and not less than one hundred (100) options.
The exercise by a Grantee of some but not all of the options which have been offered to and accepted by him
shall not preclude the Grantee from subsequently exercising any other options which have been or will be
offered to and accepted by him, during the option period.
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Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”)
are as follows:
		
Number of share options
						 Exercisable
		
At			
At
at
		
1 January
Granted
Exercised
31 December
31 December
2011			
First Grant
4,244,900
Second Grant
21,146,100

–
–

–
–

4,244,900
21,146,100

4,244,900
21,146,100

–

–

25,391,000

25,391,000

0.242

0.242

4,244,900
21,146,100

4,244,900
21,146,100

Total		
25,569,200
–
178,200
25,391,000
					

25,391,000

Total		

25,391,000

WAEP		
0.242
–
–
					
2010
First Grant
Second Grant

WAEP		

4,306,900
21,262,300

0.242

–
–

–

62,000
116,200

0.233

0.242

0.242

Details of share options outstanding at end of the financial year are as follows:
			
Exercise
Exercise
Share Options
price
Period
			
RM			
2011				
First Grant
* 0.200
23.11.2005 - 22.11.2015
Second Grant
* 0.250
23.12.2005 - 22.12.2015
				
2010				
First Grant
* 0.200
Second Grant
* 0.250

23.11.2005 - 22.11.2015
23.12.2005 - 22.12.2015

* Fair value of share options granted during the financial year
As allowed by the transitional provisions in FRS 2 “Share-based payment”, the recognition and measurement principles
have not been applied to these grants.
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25.

Staff Information

		2011
Note
RM

Group

2010
RM

2011
RM

Company

2010
RM

Staff costs (excluding
Directors) comprise:				
Charged to statements of
comprehensive income		
3,797,215
3,642,470
Capitalised in intangible
asset		
5
2,563,902
2,315,156

3,039,728

3,330,730

2,563,902

2,315,156

Total staff costs for the
financial year		

5,603,630

5,645,886

6,361,117

5,957,626

Included in the total staff costs above are contributions made to the Employees Provident Fund under a defined
contribution plan for the Group and for the Company amounting to RM656,547 and RM575,850 (2010: RM608,718
and RM578,445) respectively.
26.

Section 108 Tax Credit and Tax Exempt Income
Under the single tier system which came into effect from year of assessment 2008, companies are not required to
have tax credits under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 for dividend payment purposes. Dividends under this
system are tax exempt in the hands of shareholder.
Companies with Section 108 balance as at 31 December 2007 may continue to pay franked dividends until such time
the tax credit is fully utilised or upon expiry of the 6 year transitional period on 31 December 2013, whichever is earlier,
unless they opt to disregard the Section 108 credits and switch over to the single tier system.
Subject to agreement with the Inland Revenue Board, the Company has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 of
Income Tax Act, 1967 and tax exempt income under Promotion of Investments Act, 1986 to frank the payment of
dividends out of all its distributable reserves as at 31 December 2011.

27.

Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments
		
					2011
					RM
Future minimum rentals payables:		
Within one year				
25,394
Between one and two years				
–
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28.

Capital Commitment
		
					2011
					RM
Authorised and contracted for:			
Purchase of office building				

29.

Group

23,400,000

2010
RM
–

Segmental Information - Group
Segment information is primarily presented in respect of the Group’s business segment which is based on the Group’s
management and internal reporting structure. Management monitors the operating results of its business segment
separately for the purposes of making decision about resource allocation and performance assessment.
(a)

Business segment
The principal businesses of the Group are carrying on the business as researcher and developer of software
packages, provider of design, programming, consultancy services and related activities which are substantially
within a single business segment. As such, segmental reporting by business segment is deemed not necessary.
Accordingly the information regarding its financial position and results is represented by the financial statements
as a whole.

(b)

Geographical segments
(i)

Revenue by geographical location of customers

		
					2011
					RM
		
Malaysia				17,378,472
Singapore				2,482,735
Indonesia				842,333
Middle East				
–
Hong Kong				
16,000
Vietnam				
–
					20,719,540
(ii)

2010
RM

12,492,577
1,858,709
489,434
40,000
10,000
58,581
14,949,301

Non-current assets by geographical location of assets are as follows:

		
					2011
					RM
			
Malaysia				16,111,717
Singapore				
772,661
					16,884,378
(c)

Group

Group

2010
RM

19,530,567
1,186,341
20,716,908

Information about major customers
Revenue from 2 (2010: 2) major customers amount to RM7,436,828 (2010: RM7,154,630).
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30.

Effects on Adoption of Revised FRSs and Amendments to FRSs
The effects on adoption of the following revised FRSs and amendments to FRSs which are relevant to the operations
of the Group and the Company during the current financial year are set out below:(a)

FRS 3: Business Combinations (revised)
(i)

This revised standard allows a choice on a transaction-by-transaction basis for the measurement of
non-controlling interests (previously referred to as “minority interests”) either at fair value or at the noncontrolling interests’ share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree;

(ii)

It changes the recognition and subsequent accounting requirements for contingent consideration. Under
the previous version of the Standard, contingent consideration was recognised at the acquisition date
only if payment of the contingent consideration was probable and it could be measured reliably; any
subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised against goodwill. Under the
revised Standard, contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date; subsequent
adjustments to the consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise
from new information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss;

(iii)

It requires the recognition of a settlement gain or loss where the business combination in effect settles
a pre-existing relationship between the Group and the acquiree; and

(iv)

It requires acquisition-related costs to be accounted for separately from the business combination,
generally leading to those costs being recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred, whereas
previously they were accounted for as part of the cost of the business combination.

The revised FRS 3 was adopted prospectively by the Group and the Company and therefore, no restatements
will be required in respect of transactions prior to the date of adoption.
(b)

FRS 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)
The revised Standard will affect the Group’s accounting policies regarding changes in ownership interests in
its subsidiaries that do not result in a change in control. Previously, in the absence of specific requirements
in FRSs, increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the acquisition of
subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being recognised, where appropriate; for decreases in
interests in existing subsidiaries regardless of whether the disposals would result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration received and the carrying amount of the share
of net assets disposed of was recognised in profit or loss.
Under FRS 127 (revised), increases or decreases in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries are dealt with in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent,
with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss. When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, FRS 127 (revised) requires that the Group derecognise all assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests at their carrying amounts. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised
at its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
The revised FRS 127 was adopted prospectively by the Group and the Company and therefore, no restatements
will be required in respect of transactions prior to the date of adoption.

(c)

Amendments to FRS 101: Presentation of Financial Statements
The Amendments clarifies that an entity shall present an analysis of other comprehensive income for each
component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
This is a disclosure standard and hence does not have any impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group and the Company.
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(d)

Amendments to FRS 7: Financial Instruments-Disclosures
The Amendments requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. In particular,
the amendments require disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair value measurement hierarchy.
This is a disclosure standard and hence does not have any impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group and the Company.

(e)

Amendments to FRS 3: Business Combinations
The Amendments clarifies that the choice of measuring non-controlling interests at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets applies only to components of non-controlling
interests that constitute a present ownership interest that entitles their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by FRS.

31.

MFRSs Not Yet Adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been issued and are mandatory for accounting periods
as mentioned in Note 2(a) to the financial statements. Technical Release 3 Guidance on Disclosures of Transition to
IFRSs (‘TR 3’) provides voluntary disclosure requirements on the potential impact of adoption of MFRSs. The quantified
impact of the implementation of most of the MFRSs would only be observable in the subsequent financial years. The
potential impact arising from the MFRS framework of the Group and the Company has been assessed as follows:
(a)

MFRS 9: Financial Instruments
This Standard addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. All
financial assets shall be classified on the basis of the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Financial assets are initially measured at fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, particular transaction costs.
Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. However, changes due to own credit risk in relation to the fair value
option for financial liabilities shall be recognised in other comprehensive income.

(b)

MFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including “special purpose entities”. The
changes introduced by this standard will require management to exercise significant judgement to determine
which entities are controlled, and therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent.

(c)

MFRS 12: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard includes all disclosure relate to an entity’s interest in subsidiary company, joint arrangements,
associated company and structured entities. A number of new disclosures are required.

(d)

MFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
This Standard establishes a single source of guidance under MFRS for all fair value measurements. This Standard
does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance of how to measure
fair value under MFRS when fair value is required or permitted.
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32.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain an adequate capital base so as to maintain
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.
The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is net capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to keep the
lower gearing ratio. The Group includes within net debt, trade and other payables, less cash and bank balances. Capital
represents the equity attributable to the owners of the parent.

		2011
		
RM

Group

2010
RM

2011
RM

Company

2010
RM

Trade and other payables		
Less: cash and cash
equivalents		

1,659,332

1,520,278

859,303

685,569

(2,840,835)

(2,731,016)

(641,785)

(410,417)

Net debt		

(1,181,503)

(1,210,738)

217,518

275,152

				
Total capital		38,531,364
40,434,781
				

40,377,473

42,330,203

40,594,991

42,605,355

0.54%

0.65%

Capital and net debt		37,349,861
39,224,043
				
Gearing ratio		

(3.16%)

(3.09%)

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.
33.

Financial Instruments
(a)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s and the Company’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that adequate financial resources
are available for the development of the Group’s and the Company’s operations whilst managing its financial
risks, including foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk, market risk, credit risk, liquidity and cash flow
risk. The Group and the Company operates within clearly defined guidelines that are approved by the Board
and the Group’s and the Company’s policy is not to engage in speculative transactions.

(b)

Foreign currency exchange risk
The Group and the Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated
in a currency other than Ringgit Malaysia. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily Singapore Dollar, US
Dollar and Indonesia Rupiah. The Group and the Company monitors the foreign currency risks on an ongoing
basis.
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The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and the Company that are not
denominated in their functional currencies are as follows:
Financial Assets/(Liabilities) Held in
Non-Functional Currency
		Singapore
US
Indonesia
Functional Currency		Dollar
Dollar
Rupiah
			RM
RM
RM
				
Group				
2011				
Trade receivables				
Ringgit Malaysia		 26,645
485,400
13,304
				
Trade payables				
Ringgit Malaysia		
–
185,800
3,780
				
2010				
Trade receivables				
Ringgit Malaysia		
–
34,005
–
				
Trade payables				
Ringgit Malaysia		
–
188,396
–
				
Company				
2011				
Amount owing by
subsidiary company				
Ringgit Malaysia		1,461,087
–
–
				
2010				
Amount owing by
subsidiary company				
Ringgit Malaysia		2,565,118
–
–

Total
RM

525,349
189,580

34,005
188,396

1,461,087

2,565,118

Currency risk sensitivity analysis
The following table shows the sensitivity of the Group and the Company’s equity and loss net of tax to a
reasonably possible change in the SGD, USD and IDR exchange rates against the functional currency of the
Company, with all other variables remain constant.
Group
Loss net of tax
				2011
2010
				RM
RM
SGD/RM
		
USD/RM
		
IDR/RM
		

-strengthened 5%		
2,169
-weakened 5%		
(2,169)
-strengthened 5%		28,791
-weakened 5%		
(28,791)
-strengthened 10%		
952
-weakened 10%		
(952)
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Company
Loss net of tax
				2011
2010
				RM
RM
				
SGD/RM
-strengthened 5%		
56,374
(310)
		
-weakened 5%		
(56,374)
310
USD/RM
-strengthened 5%		
4,941
648
		
-weakened 5%		
(4,941)
(648)
(c)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s and the Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Interest rate exposure arises from the Group’s and the Company’s deposits.

(d)

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk
The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises mainly from receivables. Receivables are monitored
on an ongoing basis via management reporting procedure and action is taken to recover debts when due.
Credit risk concentration profile
At statement of financial position date, there was no significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk for the Group and the Company is the carrying amount of the financial assets shown in
the statements of financial position.
The Group and the Company determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country profiles of its
trade receivables on an ongoing basis as follows:

		2011
		
RM

(e)

Group

2010
RM

2011
RM

Company

2010
RM

By country:				
Malaysia		4,582,022
4,947,878
1,687,273
Singapore		157,308
536,964
–

2,353,926
–

			4,739,330

2,353,926

5,484,842

1,687,273

Liquidity and cash flow risk
The Group maintains a certain level of cash and cash convertible investments to meet its working capital
requirements.
Maturity analysis
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

N2N Connect Berhad

N2N AR2011 (man).indd 78

Annual Report 2011

5/21/12 7:23 PM

79

Financial Section

Notes to the

Financial Statements

					
On demand
					
or within
					
one year
					RM

Total
RM

Group		
2011		
Trade payables				461,974
Other payables				1,197,358
Amount owing to directors				
86,212

461,974
1,197,358
86,212

1,745,544

1,745,544

2010		
Trade payables				372,723
Other payables				1,147,555
Amount owing to directors				
36,384

372,723
1,147,555
36,384

1,556,662

1,556,662

Total undiscounted financial liabilities			
		

Total undiscounted financial liabilities			
		

2011		
Trade payables				449,579
Other payables				409,724
Amount owing to directors				
86,212
Total undiscounted financial liabilities			
945,515
		
2010		
Trade payables				279,030
Other payables				406,539
Amount owing to directors				
36,384
Total undiscounted financial liabilities			
721,953
(f)

449,579
409,724
86,212
945,515
279,030
406,539
36,384
721,953

Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest and exchange rates).
The Group and the Company is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity
instruments. The quoted equity instruments are listed on the Bursa Malaysia. These instruments are classified
as held for trading.
The fair value of quoted shares and quoted unit trusts are determined by reference to stock exchange quoted
market bid prices at the close of the business on the statement of financial position date.

(g)

Fair values
(i)

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
amount owing by holding company, amount owing by subsidiary companies and amount owing to
directors are approximated to their fair values at the statement of financial position date due to the
relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.
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(ii)

The aggregate fair values of the other financial assets carried on the statement of financial position date
are as follows:

		
			Carrying
		
amount
			RM

2011

Fair
value
RM

Carrying
amount
RM

2010

Fair
value
RM

Group				
Financial assets				
Marketable securities		 857,787
857,787
12,301,172
12,301,172
				
Company				
Financial assets				
Marketable securities		 857,787
857,787
12,301,172
12,301,172
							
34.

Related Party Disclosures
(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company had
the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:
		
Company
					2011
2010
					RM
RM
		
Subsidiary Companies		
E-broker fees received/receivable			
7,351,763
3,937,359
Management fees received/receivable			
496,238
2,223,803
Settlement of liabilities by the Company on behalf of the
subsidiary companies				
–
5,592,555
Settlement of liabilities by the subsidiary companies on
behalf of the Company				
2,133,047
–
The Directors are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal course
of business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different from those
obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.

(b)

Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 31 December 2011
are disclosed in Note 9 and Note 10 to the financial statements.

(c)

Information regarding the compensation of key management personnel is as follows:
		
			2011
			RM
		
Short-term employee
benefits		2,310,401
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Executive directors of the Group and the Company and other members of key management have been granted
the following number of options under the ESOS:
Number of share options
							
			
At			
At
			
1 January
Granted
Exercised
31 December
2011			
First Grant
2,397,600
Second Grant
10,100,000

Exercisable
at
31 December

–
–

–
–

2,397,600
10,100,000

2,397,600
10,100,000

Total		
12,497,600
			

–

–

12,497,600

12,497,600

WAEP		

–

–

0.240

0.240

0.240

Number of share options
							
			
At			
At
			
1 January
Granted
Exercised
31 December
			
2010					
First Grant
2,397,600
–
–
2,397,600
Second Grant
10,100,000
–
–
10,100,000
Total		
12,497,600
–
–
12,497,600
					
WAEP		

0.240

–

–

0.240

Exercisable
at
31 December
2,397,600
10,100,000
12,497,600
0.240

The share options were granted on the same terms and conditions as those offered to other employees of the
Group as disclosed in Note 24 to the financial statements.
35.

Subsequent Events
Subsequent to the financial year, the following significant events took place:
(a)

On 3 June 2011, the Company entered into conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Bangga
Istimewa Sdn. Bhd. to purchase 11 storey office building for a total cash consideration of RM36,000,000. The
mode of payment are as follows::
(i)

RM720,000 earnest deposit paid before signing of the SPA;

(ii)

RM2,880,000 being the balance of 10% deposit paid upon execution of the SPA;

(iii)

The balance of RM32,400,000 to be paid before 14 days of one month after the condition precedent as
stipulated in the SPA are fulfilled .
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The conditions precedent has been fulfilled on 26 August 2011 and the completion date has been extended
from 26 September 2011 (one month from the unconditional date) to 26 December 2011. The mode of payment
for the balance of RM32,400,000 has been revised as follows:
(i)

RM9,000,000 to be paid before 14 days of one month before the completion date and will be held as
stakeholders;

(ii)

RM23,400,000 to be paid before completion date.

Subsequently, the completion date has been extended from 26 December 2011 to 31 January 2012. The
acquisition has been completed on 19 January 2012 upon payment of the balance of purchase consideration.
(b)		The Company had purchased a total of 759,800 ordinary shares of its issued and paid-up share capital from
the open market at a total cost of RM334,849. The average price paid for the shares purchased was RM0.44 per
share.
The repurchase transactions were financed by internally generated funds. The repurchased shares are being
held as treasury shares and carried at cost in accordance with the requirements of Section 67A of the Companies
Act, 1965.
(c)

36.

The issued and paid-up share capital of the Company was increased from RM29,893,900 to RM29,927,030 by
way of the issuance of 331,300 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each for cash pursuant to the Company’s Employee
Share Options Scheme at weighted exercise price of RM0.25 per ordinary share.

Retained Profits
The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December into realised and
unrealised amounts is as follows:

		
					2011
					RM
				
Total retained profits				
Realised				3,462,905
Unrealised				
36,034

2010
RM
4,804,778
145,885

					3,498,939
Add: Consolidation adjustments				
121,987

4,950,663
146,928

Total retained profits as per consolidated statement of
financial position				3,620,926

5,097,591
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Company
					2011
2010
					RM
RM
			
Total retained profits				
Realised				5,645,784
7,237,950
Unrealised				
42,052
(31,052)
					5,687,836
Add: Consolidation adjustments				
–

7,206,898
–

Total retained profits as per consolidated statement of
financial position				5,687,836

7,206,898

The above disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses is made solely for complying with the disclosure
requirements stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not made for any other purposes.
37.

Date of Authorisation for Issue
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 were
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 12 April 2012.
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Authorised Capital
Issued and Fully Paid-Up Capital
Class of shares
Voting rights
1.

:
:
:
:

RM50,000,000
RM29,668,060
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
One vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION SCHEDULE OF SHAREHOLDERS
No. of Holders
12
114
509
378
126
2

Holdings

Total Holdings

%

337
87,913
2,917,400
14,187,448
117,683,992
161,803,510

0.00
0.03
0.98
4.78
39.67
54.54

296,680,600

100.00

No. of
shares

Percentage
(%)

Less than 100
100 to 1,000
1,001 to 10,000
10,001 to 100,000
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares

1,141		
2.

LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS
			
Name

1
N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd
133,803,510
45.10
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
28,000,000
9.44
2
	  Exempt An for AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd (66580 A CL)
3
HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
13,228,000
4.46
	  Exempt An for UBS AG (Clients Assets)
4
Tiang Boon Hwa
10,217,570
3.44
5
CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
10,096,496
3.40
	  Lai Su Ping (ESOS Pool Account)
6
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
9,679,700
3.26
	  AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd for Goh Fuqiang,
	  Kenneth (Wu Fuqiang, Kenneth) (16338)
7
Wong Lai Yoke
9,458,362
3.19
8
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
7,096,000
2.39
	  AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd for Hayman Holdings Limited (16288)		
9
Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
4,480,000
1.51
Pledged Securities Account for Ling Yun Hwee @ Lim Bee Hong
10
CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
4,400,000
1.48
	  CIMB Bank for Goh Ching Chee (MY605)
11
HLB Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
4,392,300
1.48
	 
Pledged Securities Account for Ong Nai Pew (SIN 9488-0)
12
Ming Khing Yih
2,130,000
0.72
13
Lai Sok Kun
2,018,800
0.68
14
CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
1,646,000
0.55
	  N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd (ESOS Pool Account)
15
Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
1,170,500
0.39
	  Exempt An for OCBC Securities Private Limited (Client A/C-NR)
16
Tang Yim Heng
1,135,300
0.38
17
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
1,123,800
0.38
AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd for Ramesh s/o Pritamdas
	  Chandiramani (16090)
18
PM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
1,065,600
0.36
	  Pledged Securities Account for Vivian Lea Si-Xiu (D)		
19
Cimsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
1,010,000
0.34
	  Exempt An for CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd (Retail Clients)
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Name
20
Cimsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Pledged Securities Account for Ng Yen Woon (Cyberjaya- CL)
21
HLG Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Exempt An for UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd (A/C Clients)
22
Chen Boon Chew
Lai Wei Suen
23
24
Goh Ching Chee
Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
25
	  Pledged Securities Account for Tan Boon Leng (E-TJJ)
26
SJ Sec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Pledged Securities Account for Chua Tiong Kheng (SMT)
27
Quey Sew Leng @ Quek Siew Leng
Chan See Wai
28
29
HDM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  DBS Vickers Secs (S) Pte Ltd for Ong Nai Pew
30
Chow Yee Mei
			
3.

Percentage
(%)

950,000

0.32

830,100

0.28

790,500
779,600
725,000
716,200

0.27
0.26
0.24
0.24

699,000

0.24

687,000
656,768
642,400

0.23
0.22
0.22

635,400

0.21

254,263,906

85.70

No. of
shares
(Indirect)

Percentage
(%)

–
–

–
–

No. of
shares
(Indirect)

Percentage
(%)

LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
			
Names
			

No. of
Percentage
shares
(%)
(Direct)		

N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd
1
2
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Exempt An for AmFraser
	  Securities Pte Ltd (66580 A CL)
4.

No. of
shares

135,449,510
28,000,000

45.65
9.44

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN SHARES IN THE COMPANY AND ITS RELATED COMPANIES
			
Names
			
1
2
3
4
5
6

Izlan bin Izhab
Tiang Boon Hwa
Lai Su Ping
Chua Tiong Hoong
Cho Wai Loon
Tan Boon Leng

No. of
Percentage
shares
(%)
(Direct)		
–
10,618,444
10,116,844
779,354
200,000
1,232,700

–
3.58
3.41
0.26
0.07
0.42

–		
145,566,354 (1)
146,067,954 (2)
364,000 (3)
–		
–		

–
49.07
49.23
0.12
–
–

The above Directors by virtue of the shareholdings in the Company are also deemed interested in shares in the related
corporations to the extent the Company has an interest.
Notes:Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd and his spouse, Lai Su Ping’s interest,
pursuant to Sections 6A and 134 of the Act.
(2)
Deemed interested by virtue of her interest in N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd and her spouse, Tiang Boon Hwa’s
interest, pursuant to Sections 6A and 134 of the Act.
(3)
Deemed interested by virtue of his spouse, Yap Oi Peng’s interest, pursuant to Section 134 of the Act.
(1)
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Eleventh Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Wisma N2N, Level
9, Tower 2, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur on Friday, 15 June 2012 at 10.30 a.m. to
transact the following business:
Agenda
1.

To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2011 and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

(Ordinary Resolution 1)

2.

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM161,316 for the financial year ended 31
December 2011 (2010: RM141,600).

(Ordinary Resolution 2)

3.

To re-elect the following Directors retiring in accordance with Article 127 of the Company’s
Articles of Association:

4.

5.

3.1

Mr Tiang Boon Hwa

(Ordinary Resolution 3)

3.2

Mr Tan Boon Leng

(Ordinary Resolution 4)

To re-appoint Messrs Morison Anuarul Azizan Chew as Auditors of the Company and to
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Ordinary Resolution 5)

Special Business
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:
Ordinary Resolution
Authority pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965
“THAT, pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and subject to the approvals
of the relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, where necessary, the Directors
be and are hereby empowered to allot and issue shares in the Company at any time until
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and upon such terms and conditions
and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided
that the aggregate number of shares to be issued does not exceed 10% of the total issued
share capital of the Company at the time of issue, and that the Directors be and are also
empowered to obtain the approval of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the listing of
and quotation for the additional shares so issued.”

6.

(Ordinary Resolution 6)

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:
Ordinary Resolution
Proposed renewal of the authority for N2N Connect Berhad to purchase up to ten
percent (10%) of its issued and paid-up share capital (“Proposed Share Buy-Back”)
“THAT, subject to the Companies Act, 1965, the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) for the
ACE Market (“ACE LR”) and the approval of such relevant government and/or regulatory
authorities where necessary, the Company be and is hereby authorised to purchase its own
ordinary shares of RM0.10 each (“Shares”) on the ACE Market of Bursa Securities (“Proposed
Share Buy-Back”) at any time, upon such terms and conditions as the Directors shall in
their discretion deem fit and expedient in the best interest of the Company provided that:(a)

The aggregate number of Shares in the Company which may be purchased and/or
held by the Company shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the prevailing issued and
paid-up share capital of the Company at the time of purchase and the compliance
with the public shareholding spread requirements as stipulated in Rule 8.02(1) of
the ACE LR or such other requirements as may be determined by Bursa Securities
from time to time;
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(b)

The maximum funds to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of purchasing
the Shares shall not exceed the audited retained profits and/or share premium
account of the Company of RM5,687,836 and RM5,229,405 respectively as at 31
December 2011;

(c)

The authority conferred by this resolution will commence after the passing of this
ordinary resolution and will continue to be in force until:(i)

the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) at which time it
shall lapse unless by ordinary resolution passed at the meeting, the authority
is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to conditions; or

(ii)

the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after that date is
required by law to be held; or

(iii)

revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting;

whichever occurs first; and
(d)

Upon the purchase by the Company of its own Shares, the Board of Directors of the
Company (“Board”) be and is hereby authorised to:(i)

cancel all or part of the Shares purchased pursuant to the Proposed Share
Buy Back (“Purchased Shares”); and/or

(ii)

retain all or part of the Purchased Shares as treasury shares; and/or

(iii)

distribute the treasury shares as share dividends to the Company’s
shareholders for the time being; and/or

(iv)

resell the treasury shares on Bursa Securities.

AND THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Board to take all such steps as are
necessary or expedient to implement, finalise and give full effect to and to implement
the Proposed Share Buy-Back with full powers to assent to any conditions, modifications,
revaluations, variations and/or amendments (if any) as may be required or imposed by
the relevant authorities from time to time and to do all such acts and things as the Board
may deem fit and expedient in the best interest of the Company.”
7.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following as a special resolution:
Special Resolution
Proposed amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association
“THAT the amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company as set out in Part
B of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 May 2012 be and is hereby approved and
adopted AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorized to give
full effect to the said amendments, alteration, modification and deletion to the Articles of
Association of the Company as may be required by any relevant authorities as they deem
fit, necessary or expedient.”
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8.

To transact any other business for which due notice shall have been given.

FURTHER NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT for the purpose of determining a member who shall be entitled to attend this
Eleventh Annual General Meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn. Bhd. (Bursa Depository)
in accordance with Article 77 of the Company’s Articles of Association and Section 34 (1) of the Securities Industry (Central
Depositories) Act 1991 to issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 8 June 2012. Only a depositor whose name
appears on the Record of Depositors as at 8 June 2012 shall be entitled to attend the said meeting or appoint proxy/proxies
to attend and/or vote on his behalf.
By order of the Board

HO MUN YEE (MAICSA 0877877)
TAM FONG YING (MAICSA 7007857)
Company Secretaries
Kuala Lumpur
24 May 2012
NOTES:
1.

A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Act shall not apply
to the Company.

2.

A member shall be entitled to appoint more than one (1) proxy but not exceeding three (3) proxies to attend and vote at the
same meeting. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the
proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy. If the appointor is a corporation, this form must be executed
under its Common Seal or under the hand of its attorney.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 3rd Floor, No. 17 Jalan Ipoh
Kecil, 50350 Kuala Lumpur not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting or any adjournment
thereof.
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of Annual General Meeting

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS
1.

Authority pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965
The Ordinary Resolution, if passed, will give authority to the Directors of the Company, from the date of the above
Annual General Meeting, to issue and allot ordinary shares in the Company up to and not exceeding in total 10% of
the issued capital of the Company at the time of issue. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting,
will expire at the next Annual General Meeting.
As at the date of this Notice, no new shares in the Company were issued pursuant to the mandate granted to the
Directors at the last AGM held on 20 June 2011, in which the said mandate will lapse at the conclusion of this AGM.
The Renewed Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but
not limited to further placing of shares, for purpose of funding future investment project(s), working capital and/or
acquisitions.

2.

Proposed Renewal of Authority To Buy-Back Shares
The Ordinary Resolution, if passed, will provide mandate for the Company to buy-back its own shares up to a limit of
10% of the existing issued and paid-up share capital of the Company. Further explanatory notes on Ordinary Resolution
7 is set out in the Statement to Shareholders dated 24 May 2012 despatched together with the Annual Report.

3.

Proposed Amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company
The proposed amendments to the Articles of Association will enable the Company to comply and to be in line with
the recent amendments to the ACE Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, prevailing statutory
and regulatory requirements as well as to update the Articles of Association of the Company. Further explanatory
notes on Special Resolution 1 is set out in the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 May 2012 despatched together with
the Annual Report.

Statement Accompanying

The Notice of Annual General Meeting

A.

Further Details of the Directors who are standing for re-election as Directors
The details of the Directors who are standing for re-election at the 11th Annual General Meeting are set out in the
Directors’ Profile of the Company’s Annual Report 2011. No individual other than the retiring Directors are seeking
election as Directors at the 11th Annual General Meeting.

B.

Details of attendance of Directors at Board of Directors’ Meetings
Please refer to the Board of Directors’ attendance as set out in the Corporate Governance Statement of the Company’s
Annual Report 2011.
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PROXY FORM

N2N CONNECT BERHAD
(523137-K)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
I/We,.........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
of...............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
being a member(s) of N2N CONNECT BERHAD, hereby appoint....................................................................................................................
of...............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
or failing him/her ..............................................................................................................................................................................................................
of...............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Eleventh Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held at Wisma N2N, Level 9, Tower 2, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, on Friday, 15 June
2012 at 10:30 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof.
The proportion of my/our shareholding to be represented by my/our proxies are as follows:First proxy (1)............................................................%

Second proxy (2)......................................................%

Third proxy (3)..........................................................%
FOR
Ordinary
Resolution 1
Ordinary
Resolution 2
Ordinary
Resolution 3
Ordinary
Resolution 4
Ordinary
Resolution 5
Ordinary
Resolution 6
Ordinary
Resolution 7
Special
Resolution 1

AGAINST

Reports and Audited Financial Statements
Approval of the payment of Directors’ fees
Re-election of Mr Tiang Boon Hwa
Re-election of Mr Tan Boon Leng
Re-appointment of Auditors
Authorisation for Directors to allot and issue shares pursuant to
Section 132D
Authorisation to buy-back shares
Amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association

Subject to any voting instructions so given, the proxy will vote, or may abstain from voting on any resolution as he/she may think fit.
No. of Shares held
Signature(s)/Common Seal of Shareholder
				
Dated this....................................day of .......................................... 2012
NOTES
A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Act shall not apply to the Company.

2.

A member shall be entitled to appoint more than one (1) proxy but not exceeding three (3) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.
Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings
to be represented by each proxy. If the appointor is a corporation, this form must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand
of its attorney.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 3rd Floor, No. 17 Jalan Ipoh Kecil, 50350 Kuala
Lumpur not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

✄

1.
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Please fold here

Stamp

The Company Secretary

N2N CONNECT BERHAD (523137-K)
3rd Floor
17, Jalan Ipoh Kecil
50350 Kuala Lumpur

Please fold here
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